
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2006-0501


	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:


	4

May 7, 2007

Pamela Nowina

Paul Sommerville

Bill Rupert


	Presiding Member and Vice Chair

Member

Member




EB-2006-0501

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act 1998, S.O.1998, c.15, (Schedule B); 

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Hydro One Networks Inc. for an Order or Orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates and other charges for the transmission of electricity commencing January 1, 2007.

Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street, 25th Floor, 

Toronto, Ontario, on Monday,

May 7, 2007, commencing at 9:32 a.m.
---------------------
Volume 4

---------------------

BEFORE:  


PAMELA NOWINA

Presiding Member and Vice Chair


PAUL SOMMERVILLE
Member

BILL RUPERT

Member

A P P E A R A N C E S

DONNA CAMPBELL



Board Counsel

HAROLD THIESSEN


Board Staff

DONALD ROGERS



Hydro One Networks Inc.

JOE TONEGUZZO

RICHARD LONG



Society of Energy 

SONIA PYLYSHYN



Professionals

TONY PETRELLA



Ontario Power Generation

DAVID SHORT



IESO

RICHARD STEPHENSON


Power Workers' Union

BAYU KIDANE

MARK RODGER



Association of Major Power 






Consumers in Ontario (AMPCO)

MICHAEL BUONAGURO


Vulnerable Energy 

Consumers Coalition

JULIE GIRVAN



Consumers Council of Canada

DAVID MacINTOSH  
Energy Probe Research Foundation

I N D E X   O F   P R O C E E D I N G S

Description







Page No.

Upon commencing at 9:32 a.m.




 1

Preliminary Matters






 1

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 3



 3

G. Carleton, Previously Sworn; J. McKellar, 

S. Struthers, G. Van Duesen, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers


 3

Procedural Matters





 9

Cross-Examination by Ms. Campbell


10


Recess taken at 10:41 a.m.




41 

On resuming at 11:03 a.m.




41

Luncheon recess taken at 12:24 p.m.


89

On resuming at 1:20 p.m.





89


Procedural Matters





89

Cross-Examination by Ms. Campbell (Cont'd)
90


Recess taken at 2:46 p.m.




138

On resuming at 3:06 p.m.





138


Procedural Matters





138
Cross-Examination by Ms. Campbell (Cont'd)
141

Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson

157

Cross-Examination by Ms. Rodger


173

Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:09 p.m.

178

E X H I B I T S

Description







Page No.

EXHIBIT L4.1:  DOCUMENT REGARDING OM&A 

EXPENDITURES AND COMPANY'S PERFORMANCE 

TRACKED TO BUDGET






 8

EXHIBIT L4.2:  EXCERPT FROM 1998-001 ONTARIO HYDRO 

SERVICES COMPANY TRANSITIONAL RATE ORDER



11

EXHIBIT L4.3:  TWO CHARTS, ONE SHOWING TOTAL 

EMPLOYEES AND THE OTHER TOTAL WAGES


71

EXHIBIT L4.4:  labour rate comparisons charT

100

EXHIBIT L4.5:  ENERGY PROBE INTERROGATORY, 

EXHIBIT H, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 7, TWO PAGES


124

EXHIBIT L4.6:  RENEWAL ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM 

FOR YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2006 DATED 

FEBRUARY 16, 2007






131

U N D E R T A K I N G S

Description







Page No.

UNDERTAKING K4.1:  EXPLAIN DIVERGENCE OF 

PROJECT ESTIMATES AND IDENTIFY PROJECTS 

COSTED IN A GREENFIELD PROCESS WITH SUCH 

DIVERGENT ESTIMATES






 2

UNDERTAKING K4.2:  TO CLARIFY WHETHER THE 

$49 MILLION IS INCLUDED IN THE $385 MILLION 

OR ON TOP OF THE $385 MILLION




12

UNDERTAKING K4.3:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN 

OF HIRING IN 2005 AND 2006 TO UNDERSTAND 

THE PAYBAND:  AVERAGE FOR SOCIETY OF ENERGY 

PROFESSIONALS; AVERAGE FOR MANAGEMENT 

COMPENSATION PROGRAM; AND DIFFERENCES 

IN BENEFITS







83

UNDERTAKING K4.4:  PROVIDE UPDATED 

INFORMATION FROM PA CONSULTING



96

UNDERTAKING K4.5:  TO PROVIDE WHICH PAY BANDS 

WERE INCREASED AND HOW THEY WERE INCREASED  

118

UNDERTAKING K4.6:  TO PROVIDE THE PERCENTAGE 

OF HYDRO ONE EMPLOYEES IN AND OUTSIDE GTA

119

UNDERTAKING K4.7:  TO PROVIDE LIST OF 44 

COMPANIES IDENTIFIED AS "HAY 44 SELECTED ORGS"
122


Monday, May 7, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:32 a.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  We are reconvening in the matter of application EB‑2006‑0501.  This is day 4 of the evidentiary portion of the proceeding.


Today, we will begin the cross‑examination of panel 3, the panel on shared corporate services, O&M and capital expenditures.


Mr. Rogers, I have a preliminary matter and that is I would like to ask for an undertaking for panel 2.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  So maybe I can read it into the record, because it refers to the transcript.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MS. NOWINA:  At page 91 to 94 of the transcript from last Thursday, April 26th, there is testimony from Mr. Pattani, followed by Mr. Penstone, regarding the two costing methodologies applied to Hydro One in arriving at the cost estimates for the Leaside project.


At page 92, beginning at line 17, Mr. Pattani describes the initial estimate of 20 million as, and I quote:

"Using the standard cost for putting overhead lines and underground cables in the termination equipment in a greenfield area.  This is, again, a standard way of estimating costs in general."


End of quote.  Then at line 22, Mr. Pattani, I believe in referring to the updating of costs for the project to $55.5 million, continues, and I quote:

"We ask our engineering people to begin the project development work with the intent of filing a section 92 as soon as possible.  During the project development work, in preparation for the section 92 application work, we identified several construction complexities that exist in this area."


End quote, and then Mr. Penstone then goes on to describe the complexities that are anticipated, given the urban nature of the line.  


So my question for Hydro One is:  Can Hydro One explain how the estimates for the same project can be so widely divergent, and have other projects in this application been costed in a greenfield process where a more comprehensive or precise process would provide significantly different estimates; and, if so, can Hydro One identify those projects.


Can you take that as an undertaking?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I certainly will.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  That would be K4.1.


UNDERTAKING NO. K4.1:  EXPLAIN DIVERGENCE OF PROJECT 

ESTIMATES AND IDENTIFY PROJECTS COSTED IN A GREENFIELD 

PROCESS WITH SUCH DIVERGENT ESTIMATES.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Does anyone else have preliminary matters?  None?


MR. ROGERS:  It is really not a preliminary matter, Madam Chair.  I have one subject-to-check issue that I am going to ask Mr. Carleton to address, but I thought we would wait until this panel is sworn.


Mr. Carleton's evidence concerning subject to check was given in a previous panel, but if we could have these people sworn in as a panel, then I will deal with that, if I could.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Go ahead, then, and swear them.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Carleton is already sworn, but would the other three panel members, please...


HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 3


George Carleton, Previously Sworn


Judy McKellar, Sworn


Sandy Struthers, Sworn

Greg Van Duesen, Sworn

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. ROGERS:

MR. ROGERS:  Good morning.  May I introduce my next panel, beginning with you, Mr. Struthers.  I understand, sir, that a summary of your curriculum vitae has been filed in this proceeding at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 2, page 13?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Does it contain an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, sir, I understand that you are a chartered accountant.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And from 1981 through to about 1999 or so, you worked with several of the large accounting firms in Canada?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Before becoming a chartered accountant, you obtained a Bachelor of commerce degree at Queen's University, followed by a Master's of business administration from York University?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Then became an accountant?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You joined the Hydro One or the predecessor to Hydro One I believe in the year 2000?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You have worked in a succession of jobs or positions since then, presently holding the position of chief information officer?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Struthers, what area of the evidence will you be responding to this morning?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'll be speaking to the OM&A and capital portions as they relate to information technology costs within shared costs, as well as the Cornerstone project.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Can you confirm the evidence on those topics was prepared under your direction and control and that, so far as you are aware, it is an accurate summary of the company's affairs?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct, it is accurate and it was prepared under my guidance.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Ms. McKellar.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You hold an honours bachelor degree in political science from the University of Toronto?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  I understand that you have worked with Hydro in its various forms since about 1982.


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Beginning as a management and professional trainee and working your way through various stages of responsibility in the company, all dealing with human resources, I believe?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You presently hold the position of director, human resources, for the company?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I do.


MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be addressing?


MS. McKELLAR:  I'll be addressing corporate staffing and compensation, wages and benefits.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  Can you confirm for us that the evidence in the application dealing with those topics was prepared under your direction and control and is accurate, so far as you are aware?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Mr. Van Dusen.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Good morning.


MR. ROGERS:  Good morning.  You hold, sir, hold an honours degree in mathematics with a minor in history from York University?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And in 1981 achieved a masters of business administration degree from York University?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You have worked for Hydro or its predecessor since about 1981 in various capacities?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have.


MR. ROGERS:  All dealing, I believe, with the financial end of the business?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. ROGERS:  You presently hold the position of director of business integration for the applicant?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.


MR. ROGERS:  Prior to that, you were director of corporate planning and regulatory finance?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Is the curriculum vitae filed at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 2, page 15 an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  Which areas of the evidence will you be dealing with this morning?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will be addressing the areas of the shared OM&A costs and the shared capital expenditures.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Can you confirm for the Board that the evidence dealing with those topics was prepared under your direction and control, or at least with your involvement, and that you -- so far as you are aware, that it contains an accurate summary of the company's affairs?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can confirm that.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Then the last member of our panel, Madam Chair, is Mr. Carleton, who has already been sworn.


Mr. Carleton, could you just tell us briefly what area of the evidence you will be dealing with, please?


MR. CARLETON:  Shared asset management, OM&A and shared capital.


MR. ROGERS:  Was the evidence on those topics prepared under your direction and control, and is it an accurate statement of the company's affairs?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  So far as you are aware?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Now, Madam Chair, I have no direct evidence from this panel on this topic, but I would like to deal with that one matter I spoke about a moment ago, if I could.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  This deals with a -- what I would call a subject-to-check exchange that took place with Mr. Carleton on, actually, day 1 of the proceeding.


He has had a chance to check the proposition that was put to him and found that it was not accurate, not through any malfeasance; just that there needs to be an explanation as to why the figures were not what they appeared to be.


Now, I asked that his response be circulated to parties on Friday and I believe that was done.  I have extra copies here for the Board.  I have given copies to my friend.  This deals with OM&A spending and how the company's performance is tracked to its budget.


MS. NOWINA:  Shall we mark this as an exhibit, Ms. Campbell?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  I believe that is L4.1.


EXHIBIT NO. L4.1:  DOCUMENT REGARDING OM&A 

EXPENDITURES AND COMPANY'S PERFORMANCE TRACKED TO 

BUDGET.

MR. ROGERS:  Now, Mr. Carleton, I believe this document is self-explanatory, but because some people may not have received or not realized the significance of it, I thought I would just ask you to explain very briefly this morning what the true circumstances are.  


Now, you were asked on Day 1 about a Board-approved OM&A figure of $385 million and how it compared to the company's performance, its actual spending in subsequent years, were you not?  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  Can you just explain to us why the $385 million figure may not be the appropriate figure to use for this comparison?  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  As indicated during panel 1, the 2000 Board-approved OM&A of 385 million dollars was compared to our 2003 to 2006 OM&A spend.  


Now, what we would like to point out:  Within our OM&A we include cost of external sales, and in the 2000 Board-approved OM&A of 385 there was $49 million of that external sales, with the offset external revenue and margin included in our revenue requirement or credited against the revenue requirement.  


So if we really look at the OM&A spending on program, it would be $336 million.  Now if we compare that OM&A spend in 2000 to our 2003 to 2006 spend, which is shown in the table in L4.1, we will see that, in fact, the company exceeded its Board-approved OM&A level on a program basis three of the four years on a cumulative basis across that. 


We do see a decreasing trend in our cost of external sales that went from $49 million in 2000 down to planned level of about a third of that, $17 million in 2006.  Primarily due -- and offsetting to that would be a similar reduction in our external revenue that would have been included in our revenue requirement.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you very much.  


Thank you, those are my questions. 


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Before we turn to Ms. Campbell, I guess I would like to get an estimate of time that everyone will take with this panel.  Starting with you.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Between -- I'm going to overestimate because I know the penalty that is inflicted on me if I don't.  Two to three hours.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Other parties?  Mr. Long.  


MR. LONG:  About 20 minutes.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  About a half-hour.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rodger. 


MR. RODGER:  15 minutes.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro?  


MR. BUONAGURO: About a half an hour.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  


MS. GIRVAN:  About 15 to 20 minutes.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  


Go ahead, Ms. Campbell.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL:


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Just to pick up on the point that we were just discussing, which is L4.1.  


The reference in L4.1 is to the 2000 Board-approved OM&A and that is the 1998-001 Ontario Hydro Services Company transitional rate order.  Is that the reference?  


MR. VAN DUSEN:   Yes, that's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  What I did was - I didn't do it - Mr. Thiessen found all of these references and there is a paragraph that I would like to take you to.  But for the purposes of the record, of course, I photocopied the face page and the index and everything else but there is really only just one paragraph that, but we want to be complete.  


So I would propose to probably make this an exhibit for the purposes of keeping the record clean.  So it would become Exhibit L4.2.  


EXHIBIT NO. L4.2:  EXCERPT FROM 1998-001 ONTARIO 

HYDRO SERVICES COMPANY TRANSITIONAL RATE ORDER


MS. CAMPBELL:  If I could just take you to the actual decision.  So if you get past the face page and you get past appendix C, you will see the table of contents.  Then the excerpt, which is part 2, which is cost and expenses.  If you go over to page 17.  


When we looked up the decision, we noted that the 385 million is mentioned as approved OM&A, but that when the cost of external sales number is mentioned, it's far from clear on whether it is included in the 385 or on top of the 385, because the decision simply says, "The costs for recoverable work are estimated at 49 million for 1999 and 2000, consistent with 1998 costs." 


So what I would appreciate is clarification whether the 49 million is included in the 385, or on top of the 385.  


MR. CARLETON:  I don't have the full submission, that being the 1998 submission; however, consistent with what we've done, since I've been involved in submissions the cost of external sales would have been included in the 385.  But I would have to really go back to the submission and make sure the basis of that submission was consistent with what we currently model.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  But it's your belief right now it was included?


MR. CARLETON:  I believe it would be included, yes. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you undertake to check and confirm, please, that the $49 million was included. 


MR. CARLETON:  Subject to check. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I will.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you very much.  That would be K4.2.  


UNDERTAKING NO. K4.2:  TO CLARIFY WHETHER THE $49 

MILLION IS INCLUDED IN THE $385 MILLION OR ON TOP OF 

THE $385 MILLION


MS. CAMPBELL:  What I would like to start off with is the corporate costs or shared services costs OM&A.  The issue that I want to look at - rather, what my focus is going to be on - is the gross costs.  I'm not going to go into allocation between distribution and transmission because the general or overview questions were already asked of the OM&A panel.  So this stays strictly to the shared services area and looks mainly at the overall shared service costs, as well as a few subjects, specific subject areas.  


The first thing I would like to take you to is section C1, tab 2, schedule 5.  The first thing in that, it's just an overview to assist us in getting some context to the questions that I am going to ask.  


So in C1, tab 2, schedule 5 I would ask that you turn to page 7, which is table 3.  


Table 3 shows the total CCF&S costs between 2004 to 2008 and it shows the allocation to transmission.  


Now, the table shows a steady progression of growth from 2005 onward, with about an eight and a half to nine percent increase for the 2007 test year to 80.9 million and a slight increase for 2008.  


So I have three specific areas that I would like to ask questions on.  The first is the finance function, which actually requires you to go from the overview to table 5 which is on page 10.  Just looking at those numbers, in 2005 the number was 22-1/2 million.  In the bridge year, 2006, it was 22.3, and then it goes up by 2.7 million in 2007 to 25.0 and it drops just slightly in 2008.


Now, if I look at the text on the other side, which is page 11, right above where it says corporate controllers, there is a sentence that says:

"This cost trend was generally fairly level in 2003 to 2004, with the increase in costs in 2005-2008 being primarily attributed to the costs of complying with the requirements of Bill 198 on a continuing basis."


What I don't understand from that text is why, if it's dealing with the costs of Bill 198 on a continuing basis, there is a jump of $2.7 million between 2006 and 2007, and then it roughly stays at that level.  Could I have an explanation for that, please?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Good morning.  I think what I'll do is I'll take you back, first, to table 3 where you started your initial question --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Where I started.  Thank you.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  -- and take a look at the total change in the corporate common function and services costs from 2003 of the 64 million to the 2008 level of 81.4 million.  The increase over that period is approximately $17.4 million.  Over that period, as discussed I believe on panel 1, there was escalation of about 12.7 percent, in that range.  So of that increase, approximately $8 million of that total change is associated with escalation, general escalation, over that period.


In addition, as we discussed in the distribution hearing and discussed, I'm sure, in the transmission proceeding, in 2004 Hydro One had to start making cash payments associated with the pension plan.  


The amount of pension increase attributable over this period is approximately 3, $3.5 million.


So of the 17.4, eight is roughly attributable to escalation; 3, 3-1/2 is roughly attributable to the increased pension costs, leaving about 6, $6.5 million of real program growth over this period.


That $6.4 million represents about a 10 percent, just taking a look at the base in 2003, growth over this entire period, and I will remind the Board and Board Staff that over this period our work program has grown by almost twice.  So the corresponding increase in the common corporate functions and service costs is approximately 10 percent real growth versus a 100 percent real growth in the work program.


Now, specifically going to your question to deal with corporate finance, the large increase between 2004 and 2005 represented the main costs associated with the Bill 198 project to put in place the infrastructure to deal with the requirements coming out of the multilateral instrument 109. 


This multilateral instrument is an internal control, rules as articulated by the Ontario Securities Commission, and requires certifications being signed by both the president and CEO of the company and the chief financial officer.


In addition, between 2006 and 2007 that function now needs to be fully staffed to deal with the ongoing compliance activities associated with the Bill 198 project.  So on a quarterly basis, it is required that the process owners of all of the processes, which input into the financial statements and financial numbers, are required to sign off that the processes they have in place, the internal control processes, are working and that they have checked them during that quarter.


So to ensure that that is in place, there were staff hired to run that process and we have also incurred costs to put in place a software tool that helps with the compliance monitoring and compliance follow-up.  This product is a standard product associated with Bill 198 efforts and it is called Risk Navigator.


So between 2006 and 2007, you see additional costs to staff that function and to ensure that the compliance requirements can be met.


In addition, over that period, there are additional efforts being made within the corporate finance function to deal with other compliance‑related activities.  Part of it of it is to deal with hearing support, so the finance function has grown somewhat to deal with the hearing support -- these proceedings, the distribution second-generation proceedings. 


In addition, there have been associated controls, additional controls around external reporting and the format of disclosure reporting in the management discussion and analysis that goes with the annual report, as well.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So let me just clarify something.  The jump between 2004 and 2005 is Bill 198?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Predominantly.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Predominantly.  Then it is flat for two years.  Does that mean that you have come to grips with Bill 198 and everything is going along the way it should?  In other words, you're not hiring.  You've spent the money between 2004 and 2005 to get up to speed on Bill 198.  Then you are flat for two years.  Does that mean that Bill 198, the changes required by Bill 198, are being undertaken smoothly within Hydro One transmission?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  There is a couple of items at play in the response.


One is, yes, the Bill 198 compliance activities have gone well at Hydro One.  We have put in place all of the required processes and controls and reporting associated with the Bill 198 activities.


However, since we were last here in front of the Board on the distribution hearing, some of the rules associated with the Bill 198 compliance have changed somewhat.  Certain compliance activities and certain compliance requirements have actually been pushed out in time.  


The original thought was that the end of 2006, certain types of certifications would be required.  They are now not required until the end of 2007 and some not until the end of 2008.  So there has been a bit of lengthening of the certain types of compliance that are required under this bill, and that's reflected in our activities associated with the project.


 MS. CAMPBELL:  So there is a bump to get Bill 198, the processes in place to comply with Bill 198 between 2004 to 2005, and then there is a push out from 2006 to 2007, because certain requirements of Bill 198, those requirements have been pushed out, so we see the increase into 2007?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Partly the increase you see from 2006 to 2007 is to do with pushing out some of those activities into 2007.


At a very summary level, and this is summarizing a fair bit of legislation and a fair bit of rules around this, but the difference is we're now looking at design effectiveness of internal controls in the 2006/2007 period, and then operating effectiveness in the 2007/2008 period.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


Now I would like to move to corporate communications, which is table 8 of C1, tab 2, schedule 5.  That's on page 23.


There is a spending increase from -- I would say the spending increase is from 2005 we have 4.7 million, to 2006, which is 6.4 million.  Then we have a drop down in 2007 and a bare increase in 2008.


And my understanding from reading the text, which follows underneath the chart and carries down through page 23 and over to page 24, and specifically the paragraph starting at line 6, it says:

"Corporate communications is an integral part of environmental assessment teams working to obtain approvals for transmission lines in stations."


Then it talks about the work program and coordinating council presentations, environmental assessments, studies, holding public information centres, et cetera.


I don't understand why, with the unprecedented capital investment program that's detailed in your prefiled evidence that is either planned or under way -- I don't understand why the funding drops in 2007.  I certainly understand the increase up, but I don't understand the drop and levelling off.  


Could you explain that to me, please.  


MR. VAN DUSEN:   Yes, certainly.  I think the way, the best way to think about it is that the funding that you see in the '07 and '08 level is more representative of the funding required for this operation and these activities at Hydro One.  


I would like to think that the 2006 actual expenditures of $6.4 million were a bit of an anomaly, due to many factors.  


Something to keep in mind about the corporate communications function is that although there is a core cost associated with the staff to run the activities which are described in the evidence, some of their activities are externally driven.  As the Ontario Power Authority makes announcements, there is communication that needs to go on with our customers.  


As we file section 92 activities, driven by our need to meet the provincial needs, we have community information centres and communication around that.  


When we get go-aheads to proceed with environmental assessments, there is a need to do activities associated with those; run community information centres, et cetera.  


So in 2006 there just was a series of items which drove the costs up.  On an ongoing basis, one would expect the expenditures to be more in the level of the 2007, 2008 level.  But once again, this is an area where, if there are changes in the rules around pricing, if there are changes in information around where generation and transmission is being cited and how it is being delivered, if there are changes in the market in the electricity market that needs to be communicated and stakeholdered with both our stakeholder groups and our customers, costs in 2007 and 2008 could be different.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  There are two things I would like to pick up on.  One is, first of all, you mentioned an anomaly that caused the increase between 2005/2006.  That's a $1.7 million anomaly.  


Can you explain what it is that somehow drove it up and then disappeared?  


MR. VAN DUSEN:   Certainly.  I can indicate to you a couple of activities that were undertaken in 2006 that came up that drove costs up.  


A lot of the work had to do with the Smart Meter program, and once again I remind you that we're looking at the total costs for the communications area.  So the Smart Meters and the roll-out of the Smart Meters had all sorts of education associated with it and all sorts of communication with customers.  


We also were involved in a new PowerSaver tour in 2006 which really had to do with this appliance rebate program.  


There were also costs associated with a Toyota interconnection public information centre and materials for the public information centres.  There was also work   around the Hydro-Québec interconnection and associated communications once that got approval in the fall of last year.  Then there was communications also around the OPA's fall energy-saving coupons program as well.  


These are just some examples of items which can come up which are by and large externally driven that Hydro One needs to respond to, to ensure that the customers, stakeholders, government are aware of the activities and the impact on them.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  So going forward, we've got a levelling off of the cost, 5.5 in 2007, 5.6 in 2008.  


Should we anticipate from your answer that despite all of the capital projects that are planned, that number is going to hold or perhaps go down?  


MR. VAN DUSEN:   I would not take from my answer that those costs, you would expect those costs to go down.  


We have budgeted and put forward in this rate case what we feel is the appropriate level of corporate communications expenditures to support the capital work program expansion.  All things being equal, I would like to think I would be back here several years from now and explained that the expenditures were on budget.  So we have taken that into account in the expenditures, the communication activities that would be required around the capital expansion program.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  So for example Bruce to Milton, anything else like that, that is included in the number that you are giving us for 2007/2008?  


MR. VAN DUSEN:   Once again, without being overly specific about what community information centres are exactly budgeted, over what print material exactly will be prepared, obviously we don't have total foresight with respect to those.  But, yes, the level of capital expenditures and the level of activities that we would expect to participate in, in terms of information centres and in terms of environmental assessments, yes, that is taken into account in the numbers that we have before you.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  


I would like to move to regulatory affairs, which is table 10.  This is page 32.  Still in C1, tab 2, schedule 5.  


Table 10 shows two particular subject matters under regulatory affairs.  There is regulatory affairs and there is OEB costs.  


Could you just define for me, briefly, the difference between regulatory affairs as a general sense, and then the OEB costs.  


MR. VAN DUSEN:   Certainly.  As you point out, the regulatory affairs function has the two main activities.  The regulatory affairs activities represent the activities associated with coordinating and directing the various proceedings in front of not only the Ontario Energy Board but, where necessary, the Environmental Assessment Board, the National Energy Board and other regulatory bodies, as required. 


This group pulls together Ontario Hydro's position in terms of submissions to the various regulatory bodies, coordinates those submissions;  prepares witnesses, in terms of witness training; prepares issue briefs, both for the panel members, the witnesses, as well as issue briefs for senior management.  


The regulatory affairs function also has within it the load forecasting function.  So the load forecasting function within Hydro One is maintained within the regulatory affairs budget as well.  In addition, in recent years there has been a fair bit of activity in this area, in terms of not just only load forecasting but the rate-design activities are also within regulatory affairs.  So all of the activities that we have been undertaking for proceedings in front of this Board, in terms of distribution, rate design, cost allocation are all managed through the regulatory affairs group.  


In addition, the activities in the regulatory affairs group, they operate certain systems on behalf of the company.  One of the systems which is maintained on behalf of the company through regulatory affairs is called MV-Star which has to do with monitoring interval meters and the revenue associated with all of the interval meter points.  So there is a group in regulatory affairs which manages that process, as well.  


The second grouping of costs, the OEB costs, are the costs which we are billed by the Ontario Energy Board to support the Ontario Energy Board functions.  The Ontario Energy Board has a formula for divvying up the costs of operating its operations.  It gets split between the electricity sector, the gas sector -- I'm not sure too sure if there is a third sector, but certainly electricity and gas.  And in addition to the costs that we get from the Board, we have costs associated with transcripts; we have costs associated with intervenor awards, cost awards; and they also are included in the OEB cost line.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Now just looking at the line that says regulatory affairs costs, I looked between 

- and that's the first line under table ten on page 32 - 2005 it is 5.8 million.  2006 it is 7.0 million.  That's a 21 percent increase, by Mr. Thiessen's calculation.  I give him credit.  What drives that increase?  


MR. VAN DUSEN:   Regulatory affairs activities are predominantly driven by the level of activity in the jurisdictions where we are regulated.  So in that period, there were costs associated with the end of the distribution hearing, costs associated with the distribution cost allocation and rate design work.  There is also work associated with putting together the filing for the transmission hearing and all of the costs associated with that.  


In addition, you will see the costs going from 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008, some of the increase over that period, of course, is to recognize all of the regulatory proceedings associated with the section 92 applications, the various environmental assessments that will be required by the company in terms of facilities and lines.  


In addition, some of the activities that I talked to you about, in terms of MV-Star and some of those other activities, were new activities that were just picked up over the last several years by regulatory affairs, as well.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Now I would like to move to page 42, and that's common asset management function and specifically table 14.


Just looking at the numbers at the bottom, historic 2004, 82.9 million in total costs, then drops down about 10 percent in 2005 to 75.2 million, and then up to 94.8 million in the bridge year, and it goes up again in 2007, and then levels off a little bit.


Can you explain to me, first of all, the reason for the drop in 2005?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  The asset management function cost is primarily driven by Society labour, and so the Society strike during 2005 significantly reduced our cost in that year.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So that is the explanation?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  It then goes up, as I said, about 26 percent in 2006.  What does that reflect?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  If we step back a little bit, overall asset management costs between the 2003 to 2008 period, once again, have grown about $19 million.  And as Mr. Van Dusen indicated, there are two components.  One is the 12.7 percent escalation, which added about $10 million, and the other was the impact of pension, which was started in 2004, and in 2008 we have about $8 million in pension fund. 


The second component, though, is the significant growth in our work programs, sustainment, development and operations work programs.


The asset management function is directly supporting those programs, and it is analyzing and assessing asset condition, and equipment performance and developing the work programs, conducting system planning, technical studies, developing the business cases, releasing the work, monitoring and forecasting the work, increased level of reporting and all of those specific initiatives that occurred included the significant increase in generation connections, where we had 20 to 30 on an annual basis prior to 2006 and now we saw 700 last year, and they continue to grow.  


So it is really the growth in the program that has driven up the costs in asset management and supporting those sustainment development and operations costs.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So the 10 percent drop between 2004 and 2005 is strictly the Society?


MR. CARLETON:  Correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  The 26.1 percent increase between 2005-2006 reflects both the Society --


MR. CARLETON:  It is with respect to Society back for the full year, impact of escalation, the impact of supporting the growth in sustainment development and operations work programs.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So if I use the 10 percent down as a rule of thumb, the other 15 percent is driven by the factors you just enumerated?


MR. CARLETON:  Sorry, driven by the fact?


MS. CAMPBELL:  By the factors you just enumerated?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, agreed.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Now looking at strategy and development, which is along the top.  2005, it was 6.3 million; 2006, there is a negligible increase to 6.4, and then there is a jump of about 20 to 22 percent in 2007 to 7.8.


Can you explain what happened there?


MR. CARLETON:  The growth in 2007 over 2006 is driven by some corporate initiatives that -- key strategic initiatives are carried out within that program.  And the two key ones in 2007 is our growth in CDM programs and our growth in smart metering and smart networks, and those key initiatives are driven out of this organization and we have increased the costs to support those programs.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So the increase between 2007/2008 are the reasons for that increase of about 6 or 7 percent.  Are they the same as those you have stated, or is there something new that you are anticipating?


MR. CARLETON:  They would be driven by the same factors.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Thiessen has just raised a very good point with me and one that I should obviously be asking you, which is:  How many of the initiatives that you outlined belong in fact to distribution?


MR. CARLETON:  The two initiatives are primarily distribution.  However, recognize that these asset management costs are total costs, which include both transmission and distribution.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So those would be allocated according to the Rudden study?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So the numbers that we see here, the 4.0 in 2007 and 4.3 in 2008, would take the CDM and other initiatives like that, that are largely distribution, out of the mix?


MR. CARLETON:  The Rudden study, which was the base of a time study done in asset management, was done at a point in time where, yes, it would have taken into account then.  If you did it now or any year, it might change a little bit, and so the key initiatives now might be focussed on distribution; next time they might be focussed on transmission.


So it doesn't specifically go in and say, Okay, all CDM initiatives are distribution or all smart metering.  It really looked at a point in time where a time study was done and, overall, how those people allocated their time.  So it really is an average allocation.


I would like to point out, as well, we did update the study for this hearing and there was some cost shifting that went from distribution to transmission.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So the numbers do reflect some cross shifting?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, thank you.


There was reference in one of the interrogatories that you filed -- and there is no need to pull it up.  It is just a single sentence, and it was J‑130.  You mentioned that transmission needs have grown by 120 percent between 2003 to 2008.


Could you expand on that?  It might assist us with understanding some of the costs.


MR. CARLETON:  I believe the reference was to sustainment, development and operations have grown in that regard.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, if you could just pull it up, it might be easier, rather than having me just read a sentence.  It is Exhibit J, tab 1, schedule 30, and that is volume 1 of the interrogatories for those who wish to look.


The question that was posed was:  

"Why did total corporate asset management spending increase significantly from 2003 and 2004 levels in 2006?  Please include specific reference to the strategy and business development system investment, business integration, and contracts and business relation areas."


And the response was:   

"Asset management costs increased from 77.6 million in 2003 to 96.4 million in 2006.  This growth has been driven by two factors:  Growth in activities to support the increasing needs for the transmission and distribution sustainment development and operation work programs.  Over the 2003 to 2008 time frame, transmission needs have grown by 120 percent."


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, I have that.  What that 120 percent refers to is the transmission sustainment development and operations OM&A work programs, plus capital work programs, 2008 versus 2003 for those totals.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


The next thing I would like to discuss with you is on page ‑‑ I have too many stickies.  I'm overwhelmed with them.  Yes, here we are, page 51, and that is business transformation.  It is table 18.  If you turn the page, on page 53 there is business integration, table 19.


When I read them, both seemed to be linked to growth in work plan activity; is that correct?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you explain to me, then, why they're separated?  I don't quite understand the difference between transformation and integration.  It sounds very new-agey. 


MR. CARLETON:  Transformation would take some key initiatives, and what they would do is they would manage that initiative to a point where we might put a program together or a project team together to identify the initiative, get some work started on it.  Once that initiative is under way and gets into our work flows, then that would likely flow into business integration and they would manage that on a sustainment basis.  


So business transformation is more program or project-oriented, key-initiative focussed, as opposed to business integration, which is more operational sustainment.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So the first one is where everybody gets the great idea, and the second one is where everybody carries it out; is that essentially it?


MR. CARLETON:  Essentially, yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  All right.


I'm now going to turn to information technology, which is page 59 and table 22.


It starts at 59.  Table 22 is actually over the page.  The table shows a drop in spending from 2004 to 2005.  So 2004 was 92.7 million; 2005 is 85.8 million.


And then it shows a moderate increase for 2007 to 96.2.  Sorry, a moderate increase from ‑‑ for 2007, and then it declines again.  There is a 12 percent boost in 2006.


So up and down, and then up, and then a little more up, and then down again.  Can you explain why the numbers are following this path?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  If you look at table 22, you will see the line items on that table.  One of those line items is sustainment, and that sustainment number is the one that moves considerably up and down.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Also development charge is also increased through 2007 and 2008.  They declined a little bit in 2005.  So it is related to the various programs.  The sustainment item is specifically related to the energy contract.  The number of differences primarily relate to COLA, cost of living allowance, and the adjustment as reflected in the contract.  It's made up of a number of components.


MS. CAMPBELL:  But the major driver you're saying is COLA?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you look at the numbers associated with sustainment --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  -- I believe it is table 24.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, that is incremental IT sustainment?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  That is page 64 of 84, in the same section.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Sorry, IT sustainment OM&A?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct, yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And this helps me in understanding why.  The energy line?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you look at the base IT sustainment services number?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  You will see between 2004 and 2005, a decline by about $7 million.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It then you goes up from 2005 to 2006 by about $4.5 million.  


The decline in 2005 is related to a COLA adjustment, which the contract allows for, as well as there are some contracts within what we pay Inergi, and then those contracts have ended.  So, therefore, we have got that money back, but the contracts have now come back to Hydro to administer.  


So initially administered by Inergi, and they have now come across to Hydro One to administer.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  So the bottom line would be, what, that coming back to Hydro increase or decreases the costs?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you look at, on the same table, you will see other incremental sustainment costs, increase in 2007 and 2008.  That's one of the reasons why they increase.  Those costs now come back to Hydro to administer those contracts.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So it is an increase?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  You need to look at the total of the IT sustainment OM&A as a collection, but there are reasons why the numbers go up and down and they're specific to the specific line items.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Staying with table 24, which is the sustainment OM&A that you have just been discussing with me, the greatest fluctuation ‑‑ well, there are two.  They're both the sustainment -- well, they're all sustainment, but I am trying to get a handle on why, if I look over time from 2004 to 2008, I've got such a variation.  And it is strictly because costs are coming back to Hydro One?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The increase in sort of the wavy movement to the costs, it's a combination of what is in the base IT sustainment services, which is the base contract paid to NRG.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It's impacted by COLA, and depending on whether COLA goes up or down based on the calculation, which is in the actual contract, then those numbers will move up and down on that line.


The other incremental sustainment costs you will see are increasing, and they do vary.  It depends on, within those items, what additional services I buy from NRG, so additional applications that are sustained by NRG, as well as the administered contracts that I now administer and hold.


Whereas previously they had been held by NRG, they are now held by me, and I decide whether I want to continue with those contracts or renegotiate them or, as equipment is no longer required, those contracts expire.  As I buy new equipment, additional contracts come on.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Other incremental sustainment, staying with that table, the bridge year shows 7.5; the test year, 2007, shows 13.3.  That's a very significant jump.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  There is about $3 million of contracts that are moved over from Inergi to me to manage.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Is there a reason why those contracts move over to Hydro?  What's the purpose of that, that movement?


MR. STRUTHERS:  These ones are specifically related to contracts with Hewlett-Packard and with IBM.  They relate to equipment that would have been in existence when the contract was initially entered into in 2002, and as we replace that equipment, we've decided to take those contracts back.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Why?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It was -- it made more sense for us to do so.  We were able to put them out into a more competitive bid market.  We have both Hewlett-Packard and IBM on the floor.  We like to keep them competitive with each other.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So the net result is a cost saving, then, to Hydro One?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The net result is a cost saving, yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And is that going to happen -- do you anticipate that will continue to happen in the future?  Do you anticipate taking back other contracts from Inergi and working them back into the Hydro One stable of contracts?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As it makes sense for us to take the contracts back, yes, we will do that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Do you anticipate any right now?  Can you foresee some that will come up in this year or next year?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We are looking currently at whether it makes more sense to stay on -- or whether it makes sense for us to buy storage equipment or whether it would make sense for us to go on to the Inergi storage area network.  So we look on an annual basis what our cost structure is, and we also look into the future as to where it makes sense to either buy equipment or use services. 


Therefore, the cost structure with Inergi may increase, for example, if I use their services.  My maintenance costs may increase if I decide to buy the equipment myself.


So we do look at it on a regular basis.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


Now I would like to go to page 79, which deals with external work, and that's tab C1, tab 2, schedule 5, page 79, table 29.


And the text indicates that Hydro One tracks and reports collective sales for the competitive work segment of its unrelated, which includes station maintenance activities and engineering construction work.


These are competitive services requested by customers and are individually priced.


It is very clear, from looking at the table, that the numbers are starting to go down rather significantly.  There is a drop between 2006 to 2007 from 16.6 million to 10-1/2, and then again to 9.9 in 2008.


So my understanding, from reading your text, is you made a strategic decision not to pursue this work in the future?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  First of all, just a budget question.  How are these costs treated in the overall budget for Hydro One?


MR. CARLETON:  As part of our overall budget process, the lines of business would provide an estimate of what work they would be contracting to do externally.  Along with that, they would provide the related revenues and the margin on those revenues, and we would assess them and make sure they're reasonable, and then include them in the budget and report against them.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I am assuming that Hydro One did the work because it was profitable at some point.  Did it cease to be profitable?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.  No.  The reason we strategically are moving away from it is we are focussing our resources on our internal work.  With the growth in our own work program, we need to focus our resources on that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Basically you are too busy to do external work?


MR. CARLETON:  Correct.  We're really focussed on supporting the generators.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So I take it that you assessed the degree of profitability and decided that it was not sufficient for you to continue with it?


MR. CARLETON:  It was more we assessed the resources needed to support growth in competitive external work and we wanted those resources directed to our own internal work program.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Now I have a question on capitalized overhead credit, probably the one you have been waiting for.


That is found on page 82.  It is table 31.  So that is C1, tab 2, schedule 5, page 82, table 31.


Now, this shows the amount of capitalized overhead credit from 2003 to 2008.  You can't help but be struck by the significant increase in the size of the credit compared to the historic levels.  It was at a low of 33-1/2 in 2003, 61.8 million in 2004, a bit of a drop in 2005 to 49.2, 2006 54.9, and in 2007 $85.9 million.


There is a brief explanation of what the credit is, but I would really prefer a bit more detail on that, how it is determined, for example, and why do we have such a jump in the credit in 2007 and 2008.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can help you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The methodology for determining the amounts of overheads to be capitalized was filed as part of our prefiled exhibit, and it is prefiled as Exhibit C1, tab 5, schedule 2, overhead capitalization rate.


The Board will remember that the methodology was put forward in the distribution hearing and reviewed at that point in time and approved and that the Rudden methodologies were recommended to carry forward to the transmission business.  


So we have applied the same Rudden methodology that was examined in detail in the distribution hearing to our transmission business, as well.


So unless you wanted me to go into the details of the Rudden study, I was just ‑‑ I was going to say that the information is there.  It was reviewed in detail and I believe it was determined not to be ‑‑ the methodology itself was determined not to be an issue for these proceedings.


But, generally speaking, let me take you to how we determine.  For the common costs -- so the costs in the corporate common functions and services area and in the asset management area, there is a portion of those costs which are associated with the capital work program.  There is a portion of the activities and the work undertaken by the staff in those areas which should be attributed to the capital work program, because some of their activities do support that part of the business.


So the overhead capitalization methodology develops a method for determining a rate, which is then applied to the capital work program projects, and attributes part of that overhead from the common cost area to the capital work program.


So what you will see, if I could take you back to table 30 in Exhibit C1, 2, 5.


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's page 81?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, page 81, table 30.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  So the total costs of the common OM&A areas, the asset management and the corporate common functions and services, is in the shared cost area up above.  The amount which is attributable to the capital work program is removed in this line and it is attributed to the capital work program through the overhead capitalization rate.  


So just in terms of mechanics, the costs are incurred.  The portion which goes to the capital work program is taken out here and applied to the capital costs.  


The trend that you see from 2003 through 2008, then, is really driven by the size of the capital work program.  The larger the capital work program, the more dollars it will attract.  It is just a matter of applying a rate to a level of capital expenditures.  


So, as you know, the capital work program has essentially doubled -- more than doubled over this period, so that the dollars that get attracted to the capital work program also would change.


So the change you see from 2003 to 2004, 2005, the up and then down, had to do with the larger capital work program in 2004.  This was mainly attributable to the work done on the Parkway transformer station.  Then the increase in 2007 and 2008 is directly attributable to the step jump increase in the capital -- planned capital expenditure program in 2007 and 2008 versus 2006.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell could you find an appropriate time for us to take a break?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Actually, I was about to suggest that.  The sheer excitement of it all has exhausted me, too.  Actually, I have just finished that section and I am about to start compensation, so it makes it a perfect time to take a break.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will take our morning break now and return at 11 o'clock.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:41 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:03 a.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  


Ms. Campbell.  


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Madam Chair, I wonder if before we begin I could clear up one undertaking from this morning. 


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly. 


MR. ROGERS:  This is undertaking K4.2, which referred to Exhibit L4.2, which was an excerpt from the OEB decision for transmission rates from April of 1999.  I think Mr. Carleton can answer the undertaking now.  


You will recall that my friend distributed an excerpt from the Board's decision.  Mr. Carleton, have you had a chance to look at this excerpt over the break?  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, I did.  


MR. ROGERS:  Can you help us as to whether or not the $49 million in recoverable work was included in the $385 million total for OM&A program costs for 2000.  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, I can.  If you turn to page 15 on the L4.2, there is a table indicating that the $385 million does in fact include the $49 million of recoverable work.  


MR. ROGERS:  If you look under the right-hand column for 2000, you see 49 million for recoverable work which help to make up the total of 385 million for OM&A?  


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you. 


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now I would like to start on compensation and that is issue 2.2, and that is the 2007/2008 budget for human resources-related costs which includes wages, salaries, benefits, incentive payments and pension costs including employee levels appropriate.  Obviously not written by an English major. 


So what we're going to start off with.  First of all, compensation, as those who went through the extremely wonderful experience in the distribution hearing, you will remember that the compensation played a significant role there and, in fact, in preparation for this hearing, what we did was excerpt-out certain sections of the distribution reasons.  They're appended to Procedural Order No. 2.  


If you could go to Procedural Order No. 2, what was taken out in a wholesale fashion were the paragraphs that the panel in distribution wrote on compensation, and specifically what they were looking for, the next time that Hydro One came in a main rates case, which I believe to be -- this to be one.



So just to refresh everybody costs of what the panel last year was looking for and hoping to see, that is Procedural Order No. 2, and it was appended as appendix -- it is appendix B, schedule 1.  


I just thought what we should do is refresh our memories on what was said by the distribution panel, to set the context for some of the questions that I will ask and to indicate what, as I said, that panel directed this future rates case to do.  


MR. ROGERS:  I am just giving the witness -- 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Certainly. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Thank you.  Yes, I have it.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you, thank you. 


Just to make it clear on the record, I am going to put a couple of paragraphs on the record.  First of all, not just to prove that I can read, but also so that anyone who is listening has some understanding of the context for these questions.  


So looking at Procedural Order No. 2, and looking at appendix B, schedule 1, it's page 2.  In big letters, it says, "Compensation, benefits and pension costs."  


The paragraphs that I think are relevant are the first three paragraphs.  And it states, and now I am reading for the purposes of the record:  

"The Board notes that the high compensation issue for Hydro One has a considerable history before this Board, dating back to the Ontario Hydro days.  The Board has noted in this proceeding that since the demerger of Ontario Hydro, Hydro One has taken a number of steps to control its overall compensation costs by, for example, instituting a voluntary retirement program; outsourcing; use of the PWU hiring hall; initiating various cost-efficiency programs; holding the line on compensation increases for management employees; and imposing a two-tiered pension structure or pension plan that is less generous for new employees represented by the Society of Energy Professionals.  These are positive steps and the Board expects the company to continue and enhance such efforts in the future and report to the Board at the next main rates case.  

   "The Board is particularly concerned about the apparently high labour rates.  In this respect, the Board expects Hydro One to identify what steps the company has taken or will take to reduce labour rates.  

   "Even so, the comparisons between Hydro One's cash compensation with certain other utilities presented by intervenors are of concern.  For example, the SEC calculated that by applying Ontario Hydro's compensation cost to Hydro One employees, there would be a reduction of about $85 million in Hydro One's cash compensation.  The Board recognizes that there may be some roughness in the derivation of that figure and some differences in the profile of the two utilities.  However, the contrast between the compensation structures is of concern to the Board.

   "The Board will not make an adjustment to the proposed OM&A costs based on compensation levels at this time, but expects the utility to demonstrate in the future that lower compensation costs per employee have been achieved or demonstrate concrete initiatives whereby compensation costs will be brought more in line with other utilities."  


And I have been reading from paragraphs 3.4.3, 3.4.4 and 3.4.5 of the Distribution Decision which was released approximately one year ago.  


So that is the context for compensation.  And what I would like to start with first of all is having everybody pull out the areas of the prefiled evidence that I'm going to be referring to and that is Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 1 and schedule 2.  


Schedule 1 is the overview of corporate staffing and schedule 2 is the text dealing with compensation, wages and benefits.  That's C1, tab 3, schedule 1 and schedule 2.  


Now, I'm also going to be referring to a number of interrogatories.  As they sort of move all over the map I'm hesitant to tell anybody to pull out just two volumes of the interrogatories.  So I'm just going to, as I go through, I will tell you which one and then hopefully give you enough time to pull it out, look at it, get acquainted with it, because if I tell you to pull them out you will have four out of five volumes of interrogatories sitting on the desk so I don't think it will make it that much more speedy, okay, after all that talking.  


Just starting off with the overview and the corporate staffing.  The evidence, I believe, is that -- and you will correct me on any of this, Ms. McKellar, if I'm wrong -- is that roughly 90 percent of Hydro One's labour force is unionized. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And the three major employee groups are PWU, Society and management?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, you're correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Now, for the purposes of this prefiled application, I understand that three positions were chosen. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Three sample positions, that's correct. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Three sample positions were chosen; and what were those?


MS. McKELLAR:  Those were the regional maintainer electric, which is represented by the PWU.  Journeyperson engineer which is represented by the Society, and the Band 6 manager.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, when I was looking for compensation information, I found that compensation for each of those positions was contained in interrogatory J7.22, and this is something that -- this interrogatory, rather, the information in it is probably something that if you have room to keep it out, I would suggest that you do so because it has the payment bands and information in it that I am going to make reference to on more than one occasion.  


So just looking at J7.22, which has four pages.  It contains a number of pieces of information that I think the most important are probably, for my purposes, found on page 3 and page 4.  What I am talking about are the tables that tell us the total wages for each of these three positions between 2003 and 2008, Total wages, base, overtime, incentive, other and pension costs.  So page 3, we've got the regional maintainer, and the regional maintainer is PWU, I believe, Ms. McKellar?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's right.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And at the top of page 4, which is annual salary, MP4, is that Society?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And then manager band 6 is manager?


MS. McKELLAR:  Non‑represented, that's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Non‑represented, okay.  Thank you.


Now, approximately how many of the Hydro One employees are in the PWU?


MS. McKELLAR:  Roughly 70 percent.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And if I take the ‑‑ take you to the evidence that you filed on this, just to get an overview of the PWU, the evidence is found in C1, 3, schedule 2, page 3.


And if I look at page 3, it actually starts -- there are two sentences on the bottom of page 2, but essentially the gist of it is found on page 3.  And I understand, from the text, that the focus in collective bargaining with PWU has been on increasing productivity and reducing staff levels, rather than seeking compensation concessions?


MS. McKELLAR:  I would say it has been on increasing management flexibility to run the operations, increasing productivity, and I wouldn't say reducing staff levels, but I would say reducing staff levels vis‑a‑vis an increasing work program.  So the same staff, but doing more work.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  The reason I am a little puzzled is when I go to the first page of C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 1 ‑‑ and that's where I took this information from.  So C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 1, paragraph 2.0, line 17 to 19:

"Consequently the focus in collective bargaining with the PWU has been on increasing productivity and on reducing staff levels relative to the work program rather than on seeking compensation concessions."


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  I just didn't want to leave you with the impression that we were reducing staff levels over what they are currently, but we're keeping the staff levels or reducing them, if you will, as we increase the work program.  So we're not in the process of downsizing the PWU.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I understand, all right.  Going back to C1, tab, page 3, there has been a listing -- in the middle of that page, there is a sentence that says:

"The following gains have been made to date with respect to PWU negotiations."


Could you explain those for the Panel, please?


MS. McKELLAR:  The five bullets, which run from lines 12 to 18, deal with productivity or cost initiatives that we've been able to negotiate with the PWU in the last round of collective bargaining and the round before then.


They deal with getting more favourable shifts, reducing -- or eliminating, I should say, the annual incentive plan, introducing a lower paid switching agent, which has a cost saving, and another afternoon shift for fleet mechanics.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, you've indicated that 70 percent of the work force at Hydro One is a member of PWU, and you indicate that, also on the same page, the paragraph immediately below the bullet points, that an attempt by Hydro One to achieve significant cost reductions in wages, benefits and pension would likely result in a strike.


You go on further to say that you think that the company would be unable to continue operations during a PWU strike.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And that obviously would affect, then, your ability to negotiate wage concessions, et cetera, with PWU?


MS. McKELLAR:  Wide-scale wage concession, yes, but it has not impeded our ability to get other cost constraints in the productivity gains that we have.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And when you say cost constraints in productivity, can you elaborate and give a little bit of an example of that, how that works?


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, a very good example is the elimination of the PWU annual incentive plan, which would have paid -- it could have paid possibly 7.9 million alone in 2005.  So that was a very good example of where we have been able to save money in our bargaining.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Going forward, that amount continues?  Your position is going forward it stays in place until the new collective agreement is negotiated?


MS. McKELLAR:  It's been eliminated, yes.  They would have to try to renegotiate it back in.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And the agreement expires in 2008, the PWU agreement?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's right, March the 31st, 2008.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, speaking about ‑‑ moving off of PWU, turning the page to the Society, again, you have described the gains that you have made with the Society on page 5.  The text dealing with the Society is page 4 and page 5.


MS. McKELLAR:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Could you explain, briefly, the gains that you've made with the Society.


MS. McKELLAR:  On page 5, between lines 12 and 17, we've outlined three examples of where we've been able to negotiate more favourable conditions.  One is the elimination of the annual incentive plan, and that has a savings of 2.5 million in 2003, and we've eliminated mandatory mediation and arbitration.  


I would also like to add a significant gain, which we were successful in getting as a result of the arbitrated settlement in 2005, was the less -- providing pension plan for newly hired Society staff, and that saves us about 25 percent over the other pension plan.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, you mentioned the strike in 2005, and if I go to the top of page 4, it indicates that the Society negotiations, which were ultimately concluded in arbitration and followed a 15‑week strike, resulted in salary increases of 3 percent on April 1st, 2005, 3 percent on April 1st, 2006, and, sorry, 3 percent on April 1st, 2007.


And that agreement also expires in ‑‑ sorry, March 31st, 2008.


MS. McKELLAR:  In fact, it was to expire March 31st, 2008, but the Hydro One management and the Society have entered into early bargaining and we expect that it will be concluded May 31st of 2007.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And how long would that agreement be in force for?


MS. McKELLAR:  That would depend on the terms of the agreement that's negotiated.


MS. CAMPBELL:  When did that occur?


MS. McKELLAR:  They entered into bargaining in April.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Is there any other information you can give us?  Because of course it's not in the prefiled evidence, so this is new news.


MS. McKELLAR:  It is.  Yes, it is.  It happened since I had filed this testimony.


It would be inappropriate for me to discuss the details of the bargaining strategy, but Hydro One does remain committed to getting cost reductions.  They are taking the Ontario Energy Board's direction about reducing employee‑related costs to heart, and they will be attempting to do that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  I'm sorry.  I'm sure you said this, but it didn't penetrate the blood-brain barrier around my brain.


You told me the date that you hoped to have it in place by, concluded by.


MS. McKELLAR:  Bargaining will be concluded by May 31st, 2007.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Now, do you anticipate any labour -- further labour disruptions, or is this a good sign, so that there shouldn't be any, at least in the foreseeable future?


MS. McKELLAR:  I couldn't speculate.  We have entered into a problem‑solving relationship, which is being chaired by the chair of the Ontario Labour Relations Board, and we have been able to resolve a lot of the issues that were surrounding the relationship and we will have to see.  I'm hopeful that we'll be able to resolve the other issues.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And talking about the relationship, page 5 of C1, tab 3, schedule 1 had a statement that I found somewhat puzzling, and it ties directly to the Society.  That's under the heading of "recruitment", and I am specifically looking at lines 15 through 18, and it says:

"Although the corporation remains committed to recruiting top new graduates, it is equally committed to implementing a more favourable cost structure.  Consequently, the recruitment of graduates into Society-represented positions will be limited in the short term."


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  So does that mean that for an unforeseen period of time, Hydro One is not hiring Society, potentially Society employees?  


MS. McKELLAR:  No.  In fact, we are hiring Society- represented employees as we speak.  However, we were unable to get the cost structure that we needed in the last round of bargaining and as a result, we had the 15-week strike.  We did get an improved pension plan, if you will, for new Society employees.  Until such time that we can get a more favourable cost structure, we are very prudently hiring regular Society staff.  We are still getting the work programs accomplished by hiring contract staff and temporary Society-represented staff, but we're very, very prudently hiring regular staff, because until we can get a better cost structure, though costs can be embedded with that particular new hire for as long as 30 years.  


So we are hiring.  We have hired recently ten.  We are in the process of hiring another 30, particularly in the engineering disciplines, but once again, it is a very prudent approach at this point until we have a better cost structure in place.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  So in other words, that tactic is to hold down labour costs?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.  It's until we can get a better cost structure in place.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  The next employee group that we discussed when we started off the talk was the management group, and that is found on page 5, it starts at the bottom of page 5 in C1, tab 3, schedule 2.  And it continues on to the top of page 8, in that area.  


The information that it provides, I was looking for the target, the goals that you have achieved in bullet-point form.  You had a series of things that you achieved with both PWU and Society.  And I wasn't quite certain; aside from a reduction in pension plan, is there anything else that you would consider has been done with regard to holding the management compensation costs down?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  There was the reduction in the pension plan, in addition to the reduction in the benefits plan for management staff hired after January 1st, 2004.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, on page 6 there is an indication that - and I am looking at lines 19 to 23, specifically line 22 to 23 - there were base salary increases of 2-1/2 percent, 3 percent and 4 percent between 2004, 2005 and 2006.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And there is also a reference to -- on page 8, I'm looking at lines 7 to 9, it talks about Hay Management, and we will get to where they were later, but they were assisting you in compensation levels.  It says:

“Following a 2006 review, Hay recommended that the minimum and maximums of the majority of bands...” 

- and that's the ten compensation bands for each of the management - 


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  "...be increased in order to maintain 

market relativity."


My first question is do the increase in the -- do the base salary increases follow the increase in the bands?  Are they in addition to the bands?  So do I have an increase of 2-1/2 percent in 2004 and then an increase in the salary band?  Are they separate?  Or are they together?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Okay.  They're separate things.  When we're talking about the increases that you mentioned earlier, those would be increases that would be available for people to move up within their bands.  They're not across-the-board increases.  So if the top, for example, is 3 percent, within the band that is the amount that can be spent on MCP compensation.  The other thing that happened that you asked about, is that based on Hay Consultant's review of where we were against our comparator groups, we had fallen significantly and we were no longer in, if you will, in the right market.  We wanted to be 75th percentile, and we were not in the 75th percentile.  So there was an adjustment of those bands.



Once again, those were not across-the-board increases.  If you were in a band and your band increased, it did not mean that your salary went up as a result of that increase to that band.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, management is the only group at Hydro One that is not unionized; am I correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  They're the only ones that are not subject to a collective agreement?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  So they are the only ones that really Hydro One has flexibility with, in the true sense?  You're not bound by a collective agreement?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  So everything can be on the table with management?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  They're also the highest paid of the groups.  


MS. McKELLAR:  In terms of base?  No, I would not necessarily say that.  It would depend on which bands you're looking at.  You would have to look at a specific band.  For example, if you look at some of the Society- represented engineering staff and you compare them to some of the management staff in bands 7, for example, and perhaps even in band 6, you will find that the base rate is about, is about the same.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Could we go to J7.22, the interrogatory, please.  


If I could go to page 4, and this is the -- these are the tables that we were looking at earlier.  And one of the differences between, at least as I see it, between management and the other two groups, Society and PWU, there's a difference -- the base is a variable and so is the incentive.  


So if I look at manager band 6, the incentive payments are obviously significantly higher than Society, which has zero, and the electrical regional maintainer which has, going forward, zero.  So the difference is in the package, is what I'm talking about.  


So management typically has the ability to earn more money based on these charts.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, once again, I wouldn't say that's an across-the-board statement.  If you look at overtime, for example, management is the only group that is not subject to overtime, which, depending on the job and the nature of the work you're in, can be a significant component of your compensation package.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  And if you look at regional maintainer electrical, the overtime is significant but the total wages, for example, for 2003 to 2008 ranges from $96,250 to $99,725 including overtime, which is significant.  And I go to manager; there is no overtime, but my total wage package in that same period is $142,000 to $147,000.  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's right.  And band 6 is a senior management job with a great deal of responsibilities.  Typically you would be a zone manager, cover very large geography and have several hundred staff reporting in to you including these regional maintainers and in some cases the engineering staff as well. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  My only point on this is the numbers are bigger, aren't they?  Management compensation is higher. 


MS. NOWINA:  Can I just interrupt with a question, Ms. Campbell, just so I'm clear on what we're discussing here.
Is there some indication that these roles are equivalent, in terms of level or any other equivalency?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  No.  


MS. NOWINA:  They're just examples that you have chosen?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MS. McKELLAR:  These are sample jobs which we'd use similar samples in the distribution hearing, and the stakeholders this round told us they felt they were appropriate to use.  But no, I'm glad you're making the point.  They're extremely different jobs, carry different responsibilities.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  As I said, my point to you simply is that the compensation is different.  That's all, they make more. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  Compensation. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  What you said to me is they may well do more.  They have a lot of responsibility.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's your point too, all right.  


Now, one of the things, before I go into sort of the 

-- get into more of the nitty-gritty, having done the overview, is there are really, I guess what you would say is two acts, two points when it comes to the whole issue of compensation.  


One is the total amount of compensation and the other side is the number of staff who are paid the compensation.


So you're asking for a number, and then we need to break it down, because one of the variables, obviously, if you have more management staff and they make more money, that's going to drive the costs up.  Even though you have fewer bodies, they're making more money, and that was one of the things I was trying to establish by looking at the chart.


Obviously, the higher the compensation and the more bodies you have in that band, like manager 6 or whatever - anybody in the compensation bands - the higher the compensation number becomes as a whole.


So what I'm going to do, as we work through this, is start looking at the individual groups and how they, in fact, are driving the costs.


Before I do that, what I want to talk about was something that was ‑‑ figured prominently in your prefiled evidence, and that is retirement and the bulge in the python, so to speak.


For this, I would like to go to IR J2.3.  This is from the Society.  What I am particularly interested in is the chart at the back.


So the chart at the back indicates the number of people who are eligible for retirement.  I understand from reading the prefiled evidence that approximately, I think what you said was 1,100 people -- yes, if you look at J2.3, page 8 of schedule 1 is reproduced in summary form in the preamble section to the Society's interrogatory.


And the evidence indicated that:

"The company continues to face staffing challenges arising from the imminent retirement of large numbers of employees combined with a rapidly increasing transmission work program and that 1,100 employees will be eligible for retirement in the next couple of years."


And you were asked about "the next couple of years", and what you provided was a chart that showed those eligible for retirement from 2006 to 2010 broken down in accordance with their membership in the three groups that we discussed, which is management, PWU and Society.


I noticed that the term that is used is "eligible for retirement", and my first question to you is:  How many have actually retired, as opposed to being eligible for retirement?  How many do you have that have actually said goodbye?


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, we had just over 600 were eligible to retire by the end of 2006, and 90 staff either retired, or terminated rather than retiring, but who were eligible to retire.  So that represents about 15 percent of those who were eligible.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And which category did those come from; do you know?


MS. McKELLAR:  I don't have the categories broken down with me.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And that's for 2006; right?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  That was by the end of 2006.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Have you got any indication of how 2007 is going to go?


MS. McKELLAR:  I don't have ‑‑ no, I don't have it yet.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Do you anticipate roughly 15 percent again?


MS. McKELLAR:  I expect it could be about the same.  I think the thing that is important to note is, although it is a challenge and we look at the possibility of 1,100 by the end of 2008, what I wanted to show was that the reality is that it generally is a much smaller percentage that in fact do retire.  This year was a good example of it being 15 percent.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So we have a total number over the five years of 1,438 who can retire?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  But the difference between those who are eligible to retire and those who decide to retire is significant?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's right.  It seems to be so far.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And one of the things that is referred to on the first page of J2.3, there is an indication that eligibility is defined as the earlier of rule of 82 or normal, which I love.  I love that normal is 65 or 60, if you're a pre '76 females.  I'm a pre '76 female, so I am very thrilled over that.  


Why are you using a rule of 82?  Everyone else seems to have gone to 90.  Why are we still using 82?  Is that a collective bargaining thing or ...


MS. McKELLAR:  It was collective bargaining, yes, under the Ontario Hydro -- in the Ontario Hydro days.  We have the same rule for MCP.  It is important to note that it is rule of 85 now, however, for Society staff hired after November 17th, 2005 and management staff hired after January 1st, 2004. 


So we have gone back to rule of 85 for those two employee groups.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.


MS. McKELLAR:  But, once again, it is done in collective bargaining for represented groups.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Is there any ‑‑ are there any plans to move to factor 90, which would push it up just that much more?


MS. McKELLAR:  It would be inappropriate for me to discuss specifics of the bargaining strategy for represented groups.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I appreciate that, but would Hydro One give consideration to moving to factor 90?


MS. NOWINA:  You don't have to answer if you feel that that is inappropriate.


MS. McKELLAR:  Thank you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.


Now, we were talking about retirement.  We were talking about eligibility, and we have established that it was roughly 15 percent.  Is it Hydro One's policy to replace every retiree, so for everybody that goes, someone gets replaced?


MS. McKELLAR:  No, it's not.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you give me an overview of what that policy is and how it applies to the three employee groups?


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, probably the best way to look at what we do with the retirement eligibility data is the human resource department provides retirement eligibility data, such as what you have now, to each of the lines of business who factor it into their business planning process.


So they look at who is eligible to retire, the work which needs to be done, and they start to decide how they will do that work, if certain people retired.


So often, rather than replace the worker, the work is done in a different fashion.  They do the work without the same number of people.  It could be the work isn't needed; temps.  So, no, we don't replace every worker.  We provide the data.  They look at their overall business planning and decide.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So the answer is that it varies with the group and the business that they're involved?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, thank you.


I would like to look now at the head count table, which is of course found in yet another interrogatory.  That is J1.40.


The head count table is actually on ‑‑ this is a three‑page document.  It is on page 2.  It's broken down into four major groups.  What's EPSCA?  The rest I recognize, but not EPSCA on the left side under "Representation".


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  That's the employer's group, which negotiates.  It is made up of Hydro One, OPG, Bruce Power, and they negotiate the agreements with labour; millwrights and so forth, carpenters and so forth.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  MCP, PWU and Society we already know.  If I look at the very bottom for the total, we have head counts of 4,602.  In 2004 4,873, 2005 5,078, 2006 5,000 ‑‑ sorry, 5,301.  2007 is 5,809.  2008, it levels off, again, obviously projected, 5,803.


These head counts reflect retirement, I take it?  So the numbers that I see are the numbers adjusted for those who have retired? 


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  The numbers are steadily progressing upward and then levelling out as of 2007/2008.  Are some of the increases due to retirement?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I would say that the bulk of the increase is due to the increased work programs facing Hydro One, for the next two years. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And that's because we've established that retirement is only roughly 15 percent of the work force.  So the rest of the hiring that we see reflected in the increase in numbers is because of the work?  


MS. McKELLAR:  The work program.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  There was some evidence given previously and I think it might fit in right now, and it was -- it was about outsourcing.  I am a little puzzled about how outsourcing fits in with these increasing numbers.  


That was evidence that was given on day 2 by Mr. McQueen.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Mm-hmm.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And this is found from pages -- on pages 64 to 67 of those transcripts of day 2.  Mr. McQueen gave evidence at various points in time, and the essence of it was that Hydro One was focussing more efforts on outsourcing specific projects or significant elements of large projects.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Mm-hmm.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And he – unfortunately, the way that I have excerpted it, it's gone into one big, long blurb, but I can tell you it's between pages 64 to 67, so I can't give you the precise lines right now.  But as Mr. McQueen said, he wanted to – or Hydro One intends to focus more efforts on outsourcing specific projects or significant elements of specific projects.  And in those pages he said:  

"Today, for the next few years, we have on our books 20 customer connection stations, which is roughly 200-plus million dollars' worth of work which has arisen over the past few years, in fact, because we represent a competitive alternative to other sources of getting this work done.  But it's an increase of that work.  We intend to do some of that work internally but we intend to outsource a number of those complete stations."  

Then he gives a list of different pieces of work that are going to go out, like outsourcing the Toronto downtown tunnel project, the Claireville gas insulated switch gear project, the RT replacement program, one-off projects such as the static bar compensators for the Matagami line.  Outsourcing almost all of the construction on the Bruce-to-Milton project, and then he said: 

"Taken all together, over the next couple of years we will be outsourcing on the order of $600 million to $700 million worth of our program work."


And so when I look at that, I don't understand the need to continue to add staff when you're planning to outsource so much of it.  Again, that is day 2 of the transcript, page 64 to 67, it is Mr. McQueen.  


MR. CARLETON:  If I can make a comment on that one. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Certainly.  


MR. CARLETON:  Certainly Mr. McQueen indicated he was looking at outsourcing.  A lot of that is development capital.  We have a tremendous growth in that area in order to complete the work he is looking at outsourcing.  We have to remember that the staffing levels that you see here are transmission and distribution and OM&A and capital.  So it is the total corporate requirement.  What we do during business planning is we look at the work that needs to be undertaken, the lines of business, determine what is best done by what I call core staff that we need to resource, and that would go into their plans of what hires we need to make versus what should be contracted out.  So the assessment of it is in order to complete the whole transmission distribution work program over the next few years, there's a measure of both hiring internal staff to do core, continuing work, as well as identifying what can be contracted out and done externally.  So they go together.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Perhaps I'm not following you.  I was just trying to see the correlation between the increase in the head counts and all of this outsourcing.  


If you weren't outsourcing, are you saying the numbers would have been even higher?  


MR. CARLETON:  If we weren't outsourcing the numbers would be significantly higher, yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So any idea how much higher?  Can you give us -- 


MR. CARLETON:  No, no.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Going back to some of the information that is contained in the various interrogatories.  What I would like to go to right now is J2.4, which is a Society interrogatory.  It's three pages long.  


What I want to discuss with you on this one, first of all, on page 1, there is a particular question that was posed by the Society, and it -- the gist of it appears, I think, at line 15, which is – it says: 

"In 2005, the corporation has been offering more temporary short-term positions and fewer permanent positions.  The concern is that this approach is inconsistent with prudent succession planning and will therefore increase costs and be detrimental to the health of the corporation in the long run."  

Then it goes to request information on Society employees.  And in the response, the first paragraph of this response Hydro One said: 

"Contrary to the suggestion in the preamble, the corporation is not undertaking an approach to staffing that will increase costs.  In fact, the corporation has indicated that it is committed to implementing a more favourable cost structure and will utilize temporary and contract staff as appropriate in the interim."  


If you turn the page and you go to page 2 and page 3, the numbers that I'm interested in or the tables I would like to discuss with you start at 2003, and it shows the total number of employees in the four specific groups, their total amount of wages, and the year-to-year percentage change in those wages.  


Now, if we look at the wages going across the board for the various groups, we notice that in 2004, there is a 33.5 percent change in EPSCA, total wages.  There is negligible change for management.  There is a teeny change for PWU.  And there is a 13.5 percent change for Society.  


Then when I go to 2005, I notice that management has not only increased in numbers, it has increased in wages which, of course, makes sense because the more you hire, the higher your wages are going to be.  


I notice that the Society drops from 935 members in 2004 to 882 and there is a correspondingly large drop in wage.  And I assume the large drop in wage is -- factors in that 15-week strike we have discussed?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  But I also notice something else, and that is between 2005 to 2006, the number of Society workers drops from 882 to 732.  So that is a drop of 150 Society positions in the one year.  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And I notice that management goes from 322 in 2005 to 476 in 2006.  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  So roughly 150 Society positions don't appear or disappear, and 150 management positions appear in that 12-month period.  There is a difference. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  One of the things that I found striking is, you will recall that I read to you that paragraph about Hydro One not hiring Society because you want changes to the cost structure.  Okay.  


What I did, and I have handed this out previously, I handed out to your counsel at the beginning...


What we had done, and this was produced to Mr. Rogers at the beginning and provided to Ms. McKellar in advance, Staff has put together a chart, a coloured chart.  And the purpose of the coloured chart is simply to document the effect of the reduction in the Society ‑‑ the number of Society employees and the increase in management and the effect that that has on compensation.


I believe the Panel members have been given a copy of this.


MS. NOWINA:  No.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I haven't seen it.


MR. RUPERT:  No.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  Probably a good idea if we get it, Ms. Campbell.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Here are the copies.  I have carefully hidden them from you.  My apologies.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, your witnesses have seen this?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  They got it this morning, but I think Ms. McKellar can answer questions about it.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  Just to be clear of what it is, the top simply shows the trend of the increase, and then decrease in the employment of the Society members, and, again, the increase up in the management level between 2005, 2006, and then below is a graph that indicates the difference between total wages, including pension per employee, and it shows management.  The 2006 average annual was $125,420, whereas the Society was $90,710.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell, a couple of things.  Maybe we can mark it as an exhibit.  Second, if you're not close to a mike, you probably should wait to speak; wait to speak until you get to a mike.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Repeat?


MS. NOWINA:  We don't have an exhibit number yet, Mr. Rogers.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So I am back in front of a microphone and I will repeat what I have been mumbling away to those only within immediate hearing of me.


MS. NOWINA:  Can we have an exhibit number first?


MS. CAMPBELL:  First of all, I am going to make an exhibit.  It is L4.3.


EXHIBIT NO. L4.3:  TWO CHARTS, ONE SHOWING TOTAL 

EMPLOYEES AND THE OTHER TOTAL WAGES.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  What is contained on this are two charts.  The first one shows the total number of employees and it reflects the increase in the hiring of Society.  It hits a point of Society employees in 2004, and then the decline that I was discussing with you when I looked at the charts that are contained in Exhibit J -- sorry, IR J2.4 on pages 2 and 3.  All that's done is plot the numbers on a graph.  The numbers are the same.


And the second shows total wages, excluding pension per employee, a 2006 average annual, and it indicates for management the average is $125,420, and the average for the Society was $90,710.


My question to you is:  Given the fact that you indicated that you are committed to implementing a more favourable cost structure and so you are going to limit the recruitment of graduates into Society‑represented positions, and what has happened is that 150 Society employees have disappeared and 150 management have appeared, and the management employees on average are compensated at a much higher scale than Society, where is the change to the cost structure that actually reduces costs?


MS. McKELLAR:  May I ask where you got the figures for the second chart on the exhibit, the salary?   Total wages, I should say.


MS. CAMPBELL:  It's a function of total number of employees and total wages.


MS. McKELLAR:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So they're taken from the charts.  I guess one of the ones that would help you would be J2.4, which is what we were actually going through earlier.  So we tracked those numbers, those totals, and plotted them and averaged them.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  I understand that, but what I don't know ‑‑ I understand where the numbers come from, but where does the overall remuneration come from?  Is it all management levels?  All different tiers combined?


MS. CAMPBELL:  It's the total number that is contained in those charts.  So if you look at 2006.  2006.  Let's take the line for MCP, 476, total wages 59.7.  So it is a simple ‑‑


MR. ROGERS:  It covers all layers?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, it does.  I want to make the point is an average annual.


MS. McKELLAR:  Average.


MS. NOWINA:  Just to be clear, Ms. Campbell, so you only used the numbers on these ‑‑ this chart of Exhibit J, tab 2, schedule 4?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  In this case, the last table, which is 2006 -- 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  -- it is a simple calculation using the two columns, total number of employees and total wages?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, for that chart, and the one above it is taken -- different column, but those charts that we have just been discussing, which is the category of representation for 2003 to 2006, using management and using Society and plotting the rise and fall of one and the increase of the other.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MS. McKELLAR:  Okay, yes.  I understand.  Okay, to try to answer your question and shed some light on why the numbers have changed, during the 15‑week strike, Hydro One was able to maintain service without any interruptions, without 1,000 staff, and not to say that we could have sustained that level of performance forever, but we had to look at it carefully. 


For 15 weeks we were out without 1,000 staff and we did not have a service interruption.


So we knew that we needed to look very carefully at what work was being performed by that group and whether we could reduce staff numbers later on.  We also realized, during the strike, that we did not have an optimum level of management staff in the organization.  That became apparent during those 15 weeks.


So we began to look at the processes that were taking place, how Society staff were working and so forth, and we felt that an optimum organization structure needed more MCP staff and could do without the number of Society staff that we had pre-strike, and that's the structure that you see in place now.


And I should ‑‑ they're different jobs that -- many of the folks that are now in those MCP jobs did come from Society ranks.  Many of them are engineers, but they are not performing the same job.  They're performing a different job, as I tried to explain earlier, a much more responsible job, if you will, with managerial accountabilities.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So what you're saying is that somehow, as a result of the strike, you discovered you needed more management people?


MS. McKELLAR:  Two things.  We realized we needed more management staff in the organization, and the fact that we could go 15 weeks without a major service interruption, without 1,000 staff, we needed to look at the number of staff we had, yes, in that group, in the Society.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I just don't understand how this strike would cause you to realize you needed another 150 managers.


Can you explain to me what it was that the strike illustrated to you that caused you to think that 150 more management positions were the way to go?


MS. McKELLAR:  It was the way that the work was being done, the management that was taking place in the field, effectiveness of the work.  We felt that it would be a much more effective organization if we had more management staff.  The ratio of management to union represented staff was not optimum, and it was obvious during the strike for us.


MS. CAMPBELL:  What was it before and what is it now, the ratio?


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, the numbers that you see, MCP versus -- MCP versus Society.  I'm not sure I understand your question, so we've ‑‑ without doing the math, we've added in 150, which by think leads to an optimum structure, and we're at just over 730 for the Society.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.


MS. McKELLAR:  We feel that is a better structure.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I thought there was actually a ratio and you were going to say that the ratio of union to management was ten to one or five to one.


MS. McKELLAR:  No.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I just was trying to elicit that, and you discovered the ratio was wrong and I was asking you what was the wrong one.


MS. McKELLAR:  Okay, yes.  No, we didn't have a target in mind, other than the fact that we knew that we were understaffed with respect to management staff in the field and overstaffed in Society.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you explain to me how that fits in, though.  When I look at the numbers and I look at the increase, how does that fit with the desire to reign in compensation costs by implementing a more favourable cost structure?   


MS. McKELLAR:  It's hard to discuss without looking at the work which is being performed.  


The management staff, as I said, are doing different work than those Society staff were doing.  So I'm not sure...


MS. CAMPBELL:  You see, what I see here is an increase in people who are paid on the average quite a bit more than Society.  So the increase in wages is significant.  If I look on the table, the difference between -- if you look at the change in the value on Exhibit J2.4, page 3, and I'm looking at the chart between -- sorry, for 2006.  


Immediately above it is 2005.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Mm-hmm. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  The change in wages for management was 12 percent, then.  And now it is 44 percent between 2005-2006.  Clearly the increase in wages is driven by the fact that you're hiring people who, on the whole, have a richer benefit -- sorry, richer compensation package in total than does Society.  


And I don't understand how putting the costs up actually fits in with your desire to implement a more favourable cost structure.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, I think it does, insofar as, as I said, the work is more complex.  It's very responsible work.  For the new management staff, we have changed the cost structure and we have lowered it significantly.  We have changed the benefits and the pension plan, 25 percent each.  So for new staff they're not getting the richer compensation package.  


For Society staff, we are trying to get a more favourable cost structure, also by using more temporary staff where those costs are not embedded, and using consultants and contractors as well.  


MR. CARLETON:  If I could add another point as well.  We are looking at averages, like the average of a MCP staff and the average of a Society staff.  You really need to look at the specific positions that are being eliminated in Society and those that are being created in management.  


I mean, if you get down to the comparison of a band 7 MCP staff and an MP6 Society staff, that's what the comparison is.  You need to look at those comparisons as opposed to an overall average to see whether the costs -- how the costs are changing, with addition to the additional scope that the management staff are having.  So just to use these comparators, it is difficult to make a case that our costs are higher.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  But if you look at 2006, and all we're doing is a simple mathematical exercise, we're not dividing it into bands, we're just taking the gross number of 476 management employees, dividing it into $59.7 million, and we get an average from that.  


My problem that I'm having is, that pay scale shows -- sorry, that exercise indicates that the difference, in average, between -- for 2006, the difference on average between a management compensation, straight arithmetical calculation and Society is, what, $35,000?  And I don't understand how, if you're committed to getting costs down, you are taking steps that put compensation costs up on the whole.  And that's what I'm not understanding.  


MR. CARLETON:  But I don't believe you can do a straight division to say what we've done are increasing our overall costs, because what we have done is looked at the total MCP average annual increase and a total average Society.  I quite agree with your math, it is correct.  


What we do, though, is we're looking at the positions we need.  We're looking at what positions were we're eliminating in the Society.  How we're putting broader jobs in management, and moving forward with that.  


We also expect with MCP staff and getting more efficiencies and getting more effectiveness, get those people out and getting more effectiveness, get those people out and making potentially better decisions, within the field, improvement in systems and processes as well.  It is difficult to just look at a mathematical exercise and say, we've increased our costs.  That's my only point.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  At the beginning of this panel, when I was starting my questioning, I read to you part of what the panel said in distribution, and they said that they expected Hydro One to demonstrate in the future that lower compensation costs per employee have been achieved, or to demonstrate concrete initiatives whereby compensation costs will be brought more into line with other utilities.  


My question is, how does the hiring of more management employees fall into line with those initiatives?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, I think, as Mr. Carleton was explaining -- and I -- unfortunately, I can't reconcile your numbers, but if we were looking at where we were adding in new management staff, typically it is at the band lower.  It is at a band 7 level, which is our first line of management compensation staff.  And those are typically the jobs that are being filled by former Society-represented folks.  In many cases those salaries, in fact, are about the same and we have many times been turned down by having people come into those jobs because it would have meant they would have taken a reduction in their pay level.  So we had offered many people jobs that said, "No, thank you.”  


So if you're looking at what we're trying to do with our compensation, you will find many of the Society going into the band 7 jobs at the same pay.  Longer hours of work; it's a 40-hour work week for management, which is 40 hours on paper.  It's much longer in reality.  For Society, it is currently 35 hours a week.  So that's another difference between the two jobs.  You're getting more time on the job, if you will.  


So if you were looking really at where those new jobs are coming in, they're at that lower band level, and in some cases it is for the same money or in fact, believe it or not we have had people come over for less money in the hopes that they will continue to be promoted.  


So I think that is a truer indication of what we're trying to do around the cost structure.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, I won't go over the math again.  I think it is there for everybody to see, but it may well be helpful if you could provide a breakdown, because you've said that it's unfair for us to make any generalizations based on the numbers.  


So could you provide us, please, give us an undertaking to provide a breakdown of the hiring that took place, because this is the number that's really puzzling to me, between 2005 and 2006.  I've noted that you dropped roughly 150 Society employees from 2005 and picked up 150 in 2006.  And what you're saying to me is, if you would only look at the level at which they were hired, you would understand.  


So I would appreciate if you could take those numbers, break them down for 2005 and 2006, so I understand the pay band levels for management and Society, and then I can compare like to like.  Because your position is even though it's gone up significantly, it really is a cost-cutting measure.  And I don't quite -– 


MR. ROGERS:  There's a lot there. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize. 


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe I can summarize what might be helpful to the Board.  Perhaps we could take an undertaking that gave the average salary for the year of the Society employees who are no longer -- who you terminated, and the average salary of the employees that you hired into management ranks for the year 2006.  Ms. Campbell, you think we need that for 2005 as well?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I think it might be fairer for comparison purposes for the applicant to have the two years - I see Ms. McKellar is nodding - and that might be a fairer way of doing it.  


MS. NOWINA:  So just so we're clear, was the hiring all done in 2006 and the terminations all done in 2007?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Much of the hiring happened at the end of 2005, post-strike, so a lot of it happened in 2005 and into the early parts of 2006.  So I think that that would be helpful. 


MS. NOWINA:  That would be helpful for those 150 people. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Right. 


MS. NOWINA:  Then the other thing I was going to do at break myself, but you can do it for me, was simply look at the 2005 numbers here and give us the same information that's in that bottom chart for 2006 -- I mean that's a very simple calculation.  I could probably do it in my head pretty well right now.  But the same information we have for 2006.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Okay. 


MS. NOWINA:  That would be helpful, as well.  Thank you.  Just a moment, please.  


And the other thing that Mr. Sommerville suggested and I think it's a good idea:  If you could identify if there is a difference in benefits and incentive plans with that group of employees.  That would be helpful as well.  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  We will make that undertaking.  


MS. NOWINA:  Undertaking number, Ms. Campbell. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  K4.5 -- 4.3, I apologize. 


MS. NOWINA:  Does that get you what you're looking for Ms. Campbell? 


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry. 


MS. NOWINA:  Does that get the information you are looking for?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I believe so, yes. 


MS. NOWINA:  K4.3.  Thank you.


UNDERTAKING NO. K4.3:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF 

HIRING IN 2005 AND 2006 TO UNDERSTAND THE PAYBAND:  

AVERAGE FOR SOCIETY OF ENERGY PROFESSIONALS; AVERAGE 

FOR MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION PROGRAM; AND DIFFERENCES 

IN BENEFITS

MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  I would like to turn now to the ‑‑ just a couple of questions about the head count chart, which is J1.40.  The head count chart is on the back of J1.40.


If I look at ‑‑ I am going to look at the numbers at the bottom, which are total numbers, and I am focussing on the difference between the head counts in 2003 to 2006.  So 2003, the total head count was 4,602, and by 2006 we're at 5,301.  And by my math, that is 699 hires over that time period, which is roughly 233 staff per year.


Can you explain to me why the increase between 2003 to 2006?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  First of all, I would note that that increase is broken down into non‑regular staff, as well as regular staff.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, it is.


MR. CARLETON:  So the increase in regular staff is a little over 300, I believe.  That is primarily driven by the increase in work program, and essentially it is to carry out the ongoing sustainment, development, operations and common work in the corporation.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you explain to me the non‑regular work?  What are we talking about there?  What does that represent?


MR. CARLETON:  This would be PWU hiring hall staff.  It would be the EPCSA trades, trade staff who are not part of our regular staff and don't get our pension and benefits.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.


MR. CARLETON:  Or it could also be temporary hires, like summer students, co‑op students, those types of things.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And you mentioned the hiring hall.  In fact, in distribution, I'm sure those of you who were present remember we spent a lot of time on the PWU hiring hall.


Is the hiring hall utilized at all for transmission?


MS. McKELLAR:  A little bit.  A little bit.  It is generally the CUSW hiring hall which is used over the --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Could you say that again?


MS. McKELLAR:  CUSW, Canadian Union of Skilled Workers, and they're in the evidence outlined as one of the labour -- we have collective agreements with them, as well.


MS. CAMPBELL:  When you say a little bit, how much is a little bit?


MS. McKELLAR:  I don't know.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  If I was dividing it -- let's be Mr. Rudden.  If I was dividing up between transmission and distribution the hiring hall numbers, would it be less than 10 percent would be hired for transmission?  I'm just trying to get a ballpark.


MS. McKELLAR:  We still don't know.  I'm sorry, I don't know.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So all we know is a small number, but we're not even sure how small the number is.  Okay, thank you.


The other thing I noticed, obviously as you increase staff, you have an increase in wages.  Can you give me a ballpark idea of the increase in wages year over year?


MS. McKELLAR:  If you turn to the following page, which is J1, schedule 40, page 3 --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MS. McKELLAR:  ‑‑ of the interrogatory, we have the total wages outlined from 2003 to 2008.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  So the increase in total wages:  2003 was 388.1 million; 2004, 404.2 million.  It dipped down in 2005, 397.9 million, and then a big increase in 2006 to 459.3 million; 2007, projected to be 493 million; 2008 projected to be 508 million?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And you've already discussed the fact that most -- I think most of your hiring, your evidence has been, has been because of the work projects that are planned -- currently under way and planned?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And only a small amount of it, actually, is for retirement purposes now?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So the majority of that is simply a reflection of the projects that Hydro One has taken into ‑‑ taken on and will be taking on in the future.


One of the questions that I had about the taking on of new people has to do a bit with the mentoring and the training that occurs.


You gave ‑‑ there is a section in there.  I know that you have memorized this.


MS. McKELLAR:  Maybe not.


MS. CAMPBELL:  It just has to do with the fact that the graduate trainees take part in all sorts of extensive training programs, and then they rotate through various units.


And I guess one of the questions that came to mind when reading that was, if you have immediate needs, do you always have to have these rotations through various units, because it strikes me that is the slow route?  Is there a faster route if you have an immediate need?


MS. McKELLAR:  Actually, many of our graduate trainees are not new to Hydro One insofar as they have previously worked with us as co‑op students.  We find we get many of our graduates as co‑op students, so they are already familiar with much of the work that is going on.


We found that the best program to put in place is one which does rotate the trainee through a field and a head-office environment, because they're more productive in the end.  It's all productive work they're doing from the beginning, because, as I've said, they've often worked here for two summer work terms.  In some cases, they have been interns with us, which meant that they have from 12 to 18 months.


So looking at other graduate trainee programs which are highly successful, we followed that model, and we feel we get people up and running faster as a result of the rotations, rather than having them stay in one group.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, so it is faster.  It struck me it might be slower.


MS. McKELLAR:  No, no.  Our experience is that they become more productive more quickly.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, thank you.


In J2.4, going back to J2.4 again, specifically what we've got here is increases in category between 2003 to 2006.  It doesn't obviously include 2007/2008, and I am wondering if you could provide similar information that shows the anticipated hiring by the same categories for 2007/2008.


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  During ‑‑ we would have an estimate based on the latter part of '06 when we prepared the budget and we asked them to identify what they thought their hiring would be, and we did get some estimates of what that -- the numbers would be.  


I don't have how many new hires, but we have a target MCP, PW and Society year-end staff level that was prepared during that time.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, just before ‑‑ if I may interject here, we may be able to get this information.  It wouldn't affect ongoing negotiations, Ms. McKellar?  That's all I'm concerned about.  Could we take that under advisement, Madam Chair?  I will give an answer this afternoon.  


I think my client would be prepared to do that, if it doesn't feel that it's prejudicial to its position in these negotiations, which are ongoing now.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, I understand that.  I appreciate it.  We don't want to upset the apple cart with our questions, so if you would take it under advisement, I would be appreciative.  Thank you.


I am about to move to the benchmarking study, and it is 12:20 and I obviously misled you, grossly. 


MS. NOWINA:  You said it was a generous ‑‑


MS. CAMPBELL:  I said it was a generous estimate, proving once again that lawyers can't even estimate the time it takes to boil a three-minute egg, so my apologies, but I still have the benchmarking study left to get through.  I have some more questions on ‑‑ that come out of that study, and I am going to need to deal with the Hay study on compensation, and I have of course a handful of penetrating questions on pensions, also.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  Taking a breath, why don't we break for lunch now and return at 1:15.  Before we do that, just a reminder, looking at the schedule, we will be sitting this week on today, Tuesday and Friday.  So not Wednesday and Thursday.


We will break now until 1:15.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:20 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Any preliminary matters come up during the break?  


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, Ms. Nowina.  You will recall just at the end of the break, the witnesses were asked if they could produce a forecast of numbers of employees and wages for 2007 and 2008.  


I am advised that the present negotiations ongoing with the Society include discussions concerning numbers of employees, and on that basis, I would ask that my client not be obligated to disclose that information while these talks are pending.  


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Rogers.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell.  


MS. GIRVAN:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, I just have one quick question. 


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Girvan. 


MS. GIRVAN:  There was some discussion through various e-mails regarding panel 4 and whether or not we could deal with panel 4 issue by issue.  I just wondered if that has been confirmed or not.  And if so, if we could just make sure everybody has an understanding that's how we will proceed.  


MS. NOWINA:  Good point, Ms. Girvan.  We wanted to deal with that today.  Maybe we can get back to you after this afternoon's break because I was expecting Board Staff to come up with a suggestion on that.  And I am looking at them but I don't think they're quite prepared for it. 


MR. THIESSEN:  We have discussed it with Hydro One but we just haven't publicized it fully. 


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will talk about it after the break this afternoon, Ms. Girvan.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL (Continued):


MS. CAMPBELL:  Panel, what I would like to discuss now, move to, is the benchmarking study.  The benchmarking study was done by PA Consulting and the benchmarking study is found at Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 2.  


Before I start with the benchmarking study, I am going to make reference to what the Distribution Decision directed be done to create the benchmarking study, but again that is Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 2, and it was done by PA Consulting Group.  


And just as a background to this, as I indicated, there were several paragraphs that dealt with and directed that a benchmarking study be undertaken in the Distribution Decision, and so I am now going to read those two paragraphs on the record just as the context for the discussion of this particular study.  


I am now reading: 

"While the Board is not prepared to order a comprehensive benchmarking study, the Board sees value in a high-level benchmarking study for initial review at the next rate proceeding.  The Board directs Hydro One to engage an independent party to develop a list of comparable North American companies with similar business models, transmission and/or distribution, and to report on high-level comparative performance and cost information for Hydro One and these companies.  In future rate cases, this information may assist with determination of areas for a more comprehensive benchmarking review.  The Board does not anticipate that the high-level benchmarking study will be overly costly.  

"The Board anticipates that Hydro One will want to consult with intervenors regarding the scope of the study.  

"The independent study should be submitted as part of Hydro One's next main application for distribution rates.  On a best efforts basis, Hydro would also submit the report as part of its transmission rates application for 2007.  

"In addition, the Board directs Hydro One to engage an independent party to develop a comparison of labour rates and overtime policies amongst Hydro One, other comparative Ontario electricity distributors and other Canadian utilities as identified in the high-level benchmarking study.  This independent study should also be submitted as part of Hydro One's next main applications for distribution and transmission rates."  


And those two paragraphs are paragraphs 3.5.6 and 3.5.7 from the distribution case and are excerpted and form part of appendix B, schedule 1 to Procedural Order No. 2 on page 4.  


So dealing firstly with this, my understanding is the report itself was done September 2006 and it was updated in January 2007.  


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And when I look at the paragraph, there were blue sheets put in and there was a blue sheet that is Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 2, page 1 of 2, and then behind that is the report itself and the updates that occurred in this report are in blue sheets and chiefly deal with cost metrics and the tables that support the cost metrics.  


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  So the information concerning labour rates was not updated? 


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Now one of the things that is right up front in the report, both in the update in the blue sheet that was filed and the report itself, is what I would call, for lack of a better word, a qualification of the report.  And I just read from distribution where it said on a best efforts basis there should be a benchmarking study put in.  So I understand this is a best efforts report.  


The qualification I am talking about appears in the blue sheet, lines 19 to 27, and in the report itself, in the executive summary at 1-1.  And the qualification reads, and I am specifically reading just because it is easier to find it from the blue sheet outlines 23 to 27: 

"This report provides some general observations on the results but concludes that due to the limitations of the study, including time available, consistency of reported data, sample size, exchange rates and system design, further substantial effort and investigation would be required before any conclusions can be reached from these results for application within a regulatory forum."


And my question arising out of that is, this report initially went in in September 2006 and contained that qualification and the update, which was done, I believe, in January 2007, again contained the qualification.  


Can you give me an idea of how long PA says is needed to provide for a report that will permit conclusions to be drawn by a regulator?  


MR. CARLETON:  I never had that discussed with PA Consulting so I am not sure what they would say, actually.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, the reason I'm asking that is, there was an IR that was prompted by that qualification and the IR is in Exhibit J9.53.  Let me just turn that up.  


That's J9.53.  That interrogatory reproduced what I just read to you and then posed the questions:  

"Given this conclusion, how does Hydro One Networks intend to comply with the Board directive?  Is further analysis being undertaken by PA?  Please fully explain why this study can't be conclusive." 


And the answer was:  

"The transmission benchmarking study was to be completed on a best efforts basis and based on best efforts identified a number of issues that may affect the validity of comparisons.  As a result, more research is being conducted by PA Consulting to address the Board directive."  


And that, to me, begs the question -- 


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, I don't think the witnesses have found the IR yet. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, I apologize. 


MR. ROGERS:  Secondly, I understood this was a settled issue, this benchmarking study.  I mean, I'm happy to have them answer the question, but wasn't this one that we settled under 8.3?  I thought you were going to some comparisons for wages and so on, which would be perfectly appropriate.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I am going to.  I'm just querying the qualification.


MR. ROGERS:  Well --


MS. CAMPBELL:  I guess what I'm asking is just:  How long will it take before we get the real one?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I don't know that they have informed themselves, because I think they thought this was a settled issue, but let's ask the question and if they can answer it, that's fine.  I just wanted to make sure they had the interrogatory answer before they started to answer.  Do you have that now, sir?


MR. CARLETON:  I have the interrogatory, yes.  And your question is:  When will we have the real one?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  I appreciate this is a best efforts, and I understand that.  And my question is timing for the one that is complete and it can be relied upon fully.


MR. CARLETON:  At this point we have not negotiated with PA Consulting to do one that would be used within a regulatory forum, no.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So the sentence:

"More research is being conducted by PA Consulting to address the Board directive."  

That is an open‑ended process right now?


MS. McKELLAR:  Perhaps I can speak to that.  If you're asking about labour rates, PA Consulting did go back and clarify some of the questions that we had that are in one of the interrogatories which we provided with assumptions about whether or not engineers were unionized, for example, and they have done that for us as of April 23rd.  And they have provided further evidence about the comparator companies.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, that would be very helpful.  Is it possible for you to provide that to us?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, absolutely.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Take an undertaking number?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I am looking for the sheet that will tell me what number.  So that would be undertaking K4.4, which is to provide the updated information from PA Consulting.


UNDERTAKING NO. K4.4:  PROVIDE UPDATED INFORMATION 

FROM PA CONSULTING 

MS. GIRVAN:  Ms. Campbell, can I just interject, just because this was an interrogatory posed by my client?


I just want to be clear as to whether or not -- if you look at the last sentence and the answer:

"As a result, more research is being conducted by PA to address the Board directive." 


I just want to be clear whether the information that's been discussed at this stage is, in fact, that, the end of it, in terms of more research?  


It just not clear to me what that particular sentence means and what is expected, if this is a portion of it or all that is expected.  Thank you.


MR. CARLETON:  Can you excuse us for just a second?


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CARLETON:  When we responded to this interrogatory, it was in fact specifically related to the issue which is human resources-related costs, and that was the further research being conducted, which I believe is what Ms. McKellar is referring to that was delivered a couple of weeks ago.


The overall benchmarking on cost metrics, at this point we haven't pursued any further with PA Consulting for the transmission business.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So could I just clarify, Ms. McKellar, what it is you're going to be providing to us?  It is information concerning various salary bands that are talked about in here -- or positions, rather, the three positions?


MS. McKELLAR:  It is information to clarify some of the responses we put in one of our interrogatories where we were not sure whether or not the comparator companies, whether their engineers were represented by a union.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MS. McKELLAR:  We wanted to check that out, which affected the response we had to the overtime and so forth.


We also wanted to check on the extent to which the comparator companies had composite trades for the regional maintainers or whether they had electricians, and those were the kinds of issues that we went back to clarify.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right, thank you.  Now, I'm going to ask just some questions about the framework of this study and some questions about the salaries.  And in this, starting at -- I guess at page 3 of the study itself, page 3 -- I guess we will start at 3‑4, because it just sets out the framework for this.


There was a selection criteria for candidate companies.  My understanding, just to reduce it down to its simplest, was that 17 North American utilities had criteria that fit within the four bullet points that are at the top of page 3.4 [sic].  That information could only be gathered from 14.  Am I correct in that?


MR. CARLETON:  The PA Consulting had identified 17 that they thought would be suitable, yes, that's correct, and 14 was the number who agreed to participate.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.


MR. CARLETON:  On some if not ‑‑ but maybe not all of the items.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


Now, one of the comments that's made on page 3.5, if you go over there, it says:

"Of the 17 we were able to collect data from a total of 13".


But I found on page 4.9, I think it was -- under 4.2, it says ‑‑ oh, I see.  The 14 is Hydro One.  My apologies.  My math is really suffering today.  It's from too much time in lotus land, obviously.


All right.  So we have 13 plus one, being Hydro One is 14.


On page 3.5, there is a statement.  After it lists the various companies and what they do, there is a statement that: 

"Observing the final group of companies, it is a reasonable panel for comparison for Hydro One and certainly effective for use in providing peer comparisons for the analysis.  In terms of providing a statistically valid basis for sophisticated analysis, it is a bit small."


I just wanted to point that out as being another qualifier that is in this report, so that those of us who are looking at it can keep that in mind.


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, excuse me, but the other thing you should keep in mind is, these 14 companies that are referred to here are the basis of the cost metric comparison.


When we move to the findings for the labour and overtime comparisons, in fact, they are primarily Ontario and Canadian utilities.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  That is on page 4 point -- sorry, page 4-9?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Findings from the labour rate comparisons?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  And it says:

"Including Hydro One, 14 Canadian utilities provided wage rate data..."


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  "...and overtime policy information."


MR. CARLETON:  Correct.  I am trying to differentiate.  The 14 are a different mix for the two different sets of metrics.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And 4.2 lists the labour rate comparison companies, and then provides information concerning them, and if I go to page 4‑10 and 4‑11, I've got wage rate comparisons, which is 4.2.1, and overtime policy comparisons, which is 4.2.2.


And if you look at the labour rate comparisons, Canadian utilities, there is a very squinchy [sic] little chart, obviously been put in by someone who has not reached middle age.  So what we've done and what we shared with our friends in advance is a blow-up of these charts, all right, so that you could see them.  Unfortunately, they're not in colour.  They look particularly fabulous in colour.  These are black and white.


What has been added, and my friends were given it with it added, was an average of all of these, except for Hydro One, which is the top line.  So the average is the 13 mixed together.  The top line ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell, if you can go to your microphone if you are going to discuss things?  Thank you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry.  It is a terrible habit.


MS. CAMPBELL:  This will be Exhibit L4.4, and we will call it the labour rate comparisons chart.  


EXHIBIT NO. L4.4:  labour rate comparisons charT


MS. CAMPBELL:  So what I've just handed out, which is L4.4, is a blow-up of the labour rate comparisons that are found on page 4-10.  Annual salary for – sorry, journeyman engineer.  I apologize, but the journeyperson is just a bit difficult for me to handle.  


Then we have hourly wage rates for regional maintainer electric.  Then we have annual salary for field manager.  And then we have reproduced the little chart so that people can see that the three big charts come from the little chart.  


Now, the line across the top.  I repeat for those who weren't able to hear me, the line across the top was calculated by staff and it's the simple average of the comparator utilities, excluding Hydro One.  


So the average is -- the line across the top that says "average" is a simple average of the comparator utilities excluding Hydro One, then the line that is Hydro One is clearly marked "Hydro One."  And then the bars on the graph that have different alphabetical denominations belong to the various comparator utilities.  


When I look at the bar graph, I see that Hydro One exceeds the average for all three positions.  It's the highest for engineer and regional maintainer.  And if I look for senior field manager, there are two that tie for the highest and Hydro One comes second.  


Can you explain the difference, the differences between the salaries paid by Hydro One and the other comparator utilities?  Can you give us the reasons for those differences?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I can.  If we start with the regional maintainer electric chart, please.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  


MS. McKELLAR:  As I had said earlier, the regional maintainer electric at Hydro One is what is called a composite trade.  It is not just an electrician position.  In fact, when we were doing this survey, many of the participants had difficult in finding similar positions because they didn't have the composite trades that we have.  So they didn't typically perform all of the duties which ours do, and we pay a premium for that.  


So our view for that would be these are the most highly skilled, highly skilled of all of the comparator companies and they're performing duties that require the higher rates, that are deserving of these higher rates.  


In fact, it is cost-effective because we don't have to send out other skilled trades.  We can have the regional maintainer electric perform other skills without having to send out, for example, a mechanic or a linesperson or someone else to go with him or her to do that.  So that's what I would say explains the higher wages for them.  


If we look at the journeyperson engineer, which is what we would call a MP4 level, and the wages we're paying here, of the comparator benchmark companies, only one other had engineers who belonged to a union.  So only one of those other companies were represented by a union.  As we said, the legacy agreements have driven up the wages.  


And having said that, we have attempted through other rounds of bargaining to reduce wages for new Society- represented staff.  We were unsuccessful and you have heard about the strike and so forth.  We remain committed to cost reductions in this area.  And it's also important to note that with all three groups, not all of the comparator companies have both transmission and distribution.  None of them have the same geography as us.  Quebec Hydro did not participate in the survey, nor did Toronto Hydro, which often has higher rates.  They opted out of participation.  


If we look at the management, the band 6 senior field manager, our compensation philosophy at Hydro One is to pay management staff at the 75th percentile of the market.  And we feel that that is, that is the right compensation level given the complexity of the jobs, the fact that it's transmission and distribution, they're highly complex systems, the geography we cover, and the ambitious goals that we have set leading out to 2010.  


And the last year, in particular, we've had difficulty attracting people externally into the band 6 job and we've also had some people at that level and higher leave and when we enquire why, we find out it is often because of the wages.  


So I guess in a nutshell, I would say that we feel we have a technically complex organization where the work is such that it requires the wages that we're paying, and one other thing would be, it was a best efforts study as you've pointed out.  These would not typically be the corporations that would, we would attract employees from, nor would we lose employees to these companies.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  When PA Consulting came to you and said these are the groups that we have, did you say to them what you just said to me, which is these are not the groups we normally attract people from, so don't use them?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Actually, the way it started is, it was a best efforts basis and we, to keep our costs down we leveraged our participation in the CA and called around, began the survey by calling around to find out what the wage rates were in those companies for each of the three sample positions.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  What's leverage your position in the CA?  What's the CA?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Oh, Canadian Electrical Association. CEA, I’m sorry. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  CA, I thought chartered accountants, you guys do everything.  


MS. McKELLAR:  CEA, sorry.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Thank you.  So if I could try to -- I'm getting a sense from you what you're saying is:  Best efforts basis.  Not a great deal of time.  Called around.  Asked people to participate.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  These may not be the people that you think are appropriate for comparison purposes, if you had enough time, is that the gist of it?  So if you had more time, you wouldn't be calling these people?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I would say we would not, particularly from the management ranks these would not be the companies that I would call around and do a benchmarking study on salaries.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So I don't want to tread on settled ground here, but on a going-forward basis, will you, when you are working with PA to do the longer term benchmarking study, will that permit you time to work with PA to get more comparable comparators?  


MR. ROGERS:  Can I interject here?  I think, unless I misunderstand, we may be labouring under a misapprehension.  I don't believe there is any ongoing study with PA.  


MS. McKELLAR:  No.  


MR. ROGERS:  The company responded to the Board's instruction in the last case to use the best efforts basis to get a comparative study done in time for this case, which it did do, and that that contract is over.  The only ongoing work I think was with respect to wages that we've already talked about and which Ms. McKellar is going to provide shortly.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  I guess I misunderstood the answer that was given to IR J9.53, which was the 

identified --

"...transmission benchmarking study identified a number of issues that made affect the validity of the comparisons.  As a result, more research is being conducted."  

That goes to that specific issue. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, yes. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry, I thought there was going to be another study, okay.  


Do you intend on filing one for distribution?  


MR. ROGERS:  I don't know.  I'm having enough trouble with transmission at the moment.  We haven't addressed our mind to the distribution case. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  It's just the distribution order said the independent study should be submitted as part of Hydro One's next rate application for distribution rates.  So I'm giving you a heads-up, Mr. Rogers, that at some point you are going to have to do that, just to remind you.  


Okay, thank you.  That's helpful to me.  


One of the questions, one of the comments that you made was that only one of the comparator utilities had unionized ‑‑ one of the positions was unionized.  Only one of them?


MS. McKELLAR:  I should be specific.  In the follow-up that PA Consulting did for us, not all 13 utilities responded; 11 of the 13.  Of those 11 who responded, there was only one additional company where the engineers were unionized.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.


So only -- out of the 11 of the 13 -- sorry, 11 out of the 14 responded to you, but the labour rates, there was 14, a base of 14 comparator utilities?


MS. McKELLAR:  No.  I meant in the follow-up, the subsequent follow-up, which we have to give to you under one of the ‑‑ which we're going to hand to you, only 11 of the 13 companies answered the additional questions, one of which was:  Are your engineers a member of/belong to the union?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Now, there was a request that was made in Staff IR 35.  That is J1.35.  And it was asked for -- what they asked for was information to assist in comparing specific utilities.  


And the specific question that was asked ‑ and this is J1.35 - was -- the utilities that Hydro One was compared against are listed up front, but they're not identified on those charts.  The charts assign them a letter and there are no identifiers, and the request that was made was to advise Staff or provide information on how Hydro One compares against specific utilities, specifically in terms of labour costs, because it was Staff's position it would appear to be relevant.  


So, for example, cost of living considerations, the fact that some are integrated and include transmission, while the others are only distribution companies.


And the report, you indicate to us in the answer, is there was an agreement that the information would be kept confidential.  And I'm wondering if there is an ability to provide us with information, for example, on which of the companies are urban -- to just use a term, urban versus rural. 


One of the things I'm considering, of course, is the fact that there is a distinction between cost of living in different areas of this province, and the further out you are perhaps the cheaper it is.


And one of the issues that's raised in this report, the PA Consulting makes a statement that ‑‑ this is at paragraph 4.2.1 and it's page 4‑10, and it says:

"Hydro One is at the end of the pay scales for this group of utilities.  This result is not surprising at all, given the location of Hydro One in the largest metropolitan area in Canada."


Just stopping there, am I correct that most of Hydro One's transmission employees don't actually work in metropolitan Toronto but are actually throughout the province?


MS. McKELLAR:  They work across the province, that's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's correct.  So if you could give me a percentage?  Out of the transmission employees, how many actually are in Toronto and how many are not?


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, that would be difficult.  We have an integrated workforce where we don't identify staff as being either distribution or transmission.  They support work programs in both.


I wouldn't be able to give you transmission employees, because they're not identified as such.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, but I guess I would go back to just the point that we were discussing earlier, which is the fact that most of the trans ‑‑ most of the Hydro employees work out of the Toronto area?


MS. McKELLAR:  Work outside of metropolitan Toronto, that is correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  Out of all of the Hydro One employees, how many actually work in Toronto?  What's the percentage that's in Toronto, the GTA, and how many are out?


MS. McKELLAR:  I don't have that information.  I could get that information for you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Would you mind?  It would be helpful, because of the statement that the location of Hydro One in the largest metropolitan area in Canada seems to be, from PA's perspective, to be a reason why the pay scale would be high.  But, on the other hand, if the majority of the employees don't live in the GTA, that raises an issue.


MS. McKELLAR:  It's unfortunate that we haven't done the undertaking, because the two conclusions, which are in PA's follow-up report, that is not one of them.  They do not talk about the rates being driven up by being in a metropolitan area.


They talk about the high skill levels, as I discussed, with the regional maintainers electric and they talked about the geography spread of the service territory, about the fact that it is both transmission and distribution spread out.  They don't talk about a metropolitan Toronto area.


So in the follow-up, you would see ‑‑ I can see it says it there, but it does not say that is part of why the higher rates apply at Hydro One.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, so they have updated this page?


MS. McKELLAR:  They have not updated that page.  I have a second report to follow up on those additional questions that we put to them, and they have taken out that comment about the metropolitan area, in terms of it being relevant for the higher wages.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  We have already got an undertaking for that.


MS. McKELLAR:  We have an undertaking, yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  The other thing that is said in that paragraph is:   

"Hydro One has to compete for transmission staff with other large transmission operators in both Canada and the US." 


It's my understanding that in Ontario, Hydro One is 97 percent of the transmission market.  I'm correct on that; am I not?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, you're correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So the competition would come from where?  It's not in Ontario.


MS. McKELLAR:  No.  The competition would typically come from the US, I would expect.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So probably not another place in Canada.  It would be the States?


MS. McKELLAR:  It could be the States.  And when you were looking at the three sample jobs --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MS. McKELLAR:  -- once again, we compete for attracting and retaining staff often with companies that were formerly Ontario Hydro, such as Ontario Power Generation, Bruce Power, IESO in some cases.  So those would be comparators, as well.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  I go back to a point that you made earlier.  You said you don't divide your employees into transmission and distribution in certain respects, at all. 


So what you're saying to me is, although you're 97 percent of transmission in Ontario, the competition for some of these skilled people would be to go to positions that would not be labelled "transmission"?


MS. McKELLAR:  Perhaps, depending on the job that we're talking about.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, just moving to the -- actually, one of the things I noticed is, before I move off that point, just when I was looking at the list of sources, the labour rate comparisons which are listed on 4.9 ‑‑ actually, I am looking at two 4.9s -- 4‑9s.  One of them is Enersource.  Am I correct that Enersource is actually in the GTA?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I believe it is in Mississauga.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So it would be one of those companies that actually does fit into the GTA area?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it would be.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  PowerStream.  Where is PowerStream located?  I believe it is GTA, also, but I am not --


MS. McKELLAR:  I am told it is Vaughan.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, the beautiful city of Vaughan.  Okay, so we have two on this list of comparators that are actually in the Greater Toronto Area.  Thank you.


Now, what I would like to talk about is overtime, and that's 4‑10 and there is also a chart that is on 4‑11, which we didn't blow up, so my apologies to those of us who are challenged by the print.


I'm specifically looking at the journeymen engineer, and there substantial variance.  If you go to the top, where I am looking at, just to orient yourself, is the top of 4-11 and it's the paragraph that starts:  

"For the journeyman engineer classification, there is substantial variance in whether or not overtime pay is offered."  

Four of the companies don't offer any overtime at all.  Three of them offered a discretionary bonus.  One offers no monetary compensation, but a week of vacation.  And of three of the eleven utilities offering overtime, only three pay overtime of one and a half times for short term and two and a half for extended.  And Hydro One is in one of those.  


Is that fact of the overtime, is that related to a collective agreement requirement?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I notice, for the journeyman engineering classification Hydro provides the highest annual salary of all of the utilities and also seems to provide the maximum in the terms of overtime compensation.  Again, is that related to the collective bargaining agreement?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.  It is negotiated.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  When you arrive -- sorry.  If it's negotiated, could it be said that Hydro One has an overtime policy?  Or is it contained strictly within the collective agreement?  


MS. McKELLAR:  It's a collective agreement provision.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And that's PWU, or Society?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Society.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Thank you.  I'm not going to ask any more questions on that.  


Staff IR 40, which is J1.40.  Page 3.  We have already looked at the head count table.  I actually want to look at page 3, which has networks payroll.  There is a table.  And that networks payroll table has a number of headings and the heading I would like to discuss is overtime.  


And if I look at the table, from 2005 to 2006, there is a very significant jump in overtime from 50.6 million to 66.5 million. 


Can you explain to me what caused that jump?  


MS. McKELLAR:  A large part of that jump has to do with the storms, the major storms that we experienced in 2006.  We had three major storms in the summer and into the fall where over 400,000 customers were out of service, and as a result, in storm overtime alone, the hours attributable to that in 2006 were about 280,000.  And that's the nature of the work being 24 hours, seven days a week.  And in fact I will get a plug in:  Hydro One is the only Canadian utility to ever win the prestigious Edison Electric Institute Storm Recovery Award as a result of our    outstanding performance in 2006 in storm recovery.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Congratulations.  Thank you.  I didn't even know they made awards for that, but very good.  Congratulations.  I'm pleased to hear that and that's why there is a $16 million increase in overtime because of your rapid response, okay.  


Would you call that season extraordinary?  Would that be an extraordinary event?  


MS. McKELLAR:  You will see that, when we look at -- there is another...


I think that that was unusual, in 2006.  And if we compare it to, for example, 2005, we had just over 75,000 hours attributable to storm recovery overtime.  So in terms of year over year, it was an outstanding year.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  In 2007, it doesn't go back down, even though 2006 was an extraordinary year.  Instead, it is going up again.  


If it's an extraordinary year and unusual, why would it not go back down?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, some of the other reasons why we incur overtime is, part of it has to do with, on our capital projects, we work overtime to optimize the schedule and to bring the project in more cost-effective manner.  


We also are being asked to take outages on the weekends because of customer demands.  So we are taking more overtime on the weekends around that, as well as additional storms, but there are other reasons which keep the overtime at a higher rate.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  So there are storms and there are outages that take place on weekends and there are capital projects? 


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Those are the three reasons why it jumps the way it does and stays up there?  


MS. McKELLAR:  My understanding is, yes, those would be the top three reasons.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So there is a $16 million jump between 2005 and 2006.  So was all of that $16 million overtime?  Or was that, in fact, the beginning of the capital projects increase?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I don't have that information, that breakdown.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  It is just that you're pretty much the same for three years and then we bump up and we stay up and we go up a bit more.  


So I can understand an extraordinary year.  What I don't understand is if we take all of those horrible storms away, and we haven't gotten through 2007 so we don't know yet, we're still up from 2005, we're up $20 million in overtime.  


I just am trying to get a handle on it.  So I assume because you can't predict the weather and you are assuming you'll have like a normal year, whatever normal is when it comes to weather, what is built into that larger figure now are chiefly capital projects?  


MS. McKELLAR:  And customer demand. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  And customer demand. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Take outages on the weekends. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  When did that start happening, the customer demand that outages occur on weekends?  


MR. CARLETON:  I'm not sure we can give you a point in time.  What we're seeing is the system is being more constrained.  It is harder to get outages, it is harder to mobilize workforces.  So what we're going to have to do is start on the weekend, and it just evolved over time.  To pick a time, I'm not sure.  I would say over the last year or so, last year or two years. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  It is just because, as I said, you were very steady between 2003 and 2005, then there is the bump, so what you're saying is roughly within the last year or so these factors have come together to drive up overtime.  


I think I need a yes. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Don't say yes unless, of course, you agree with me. 


MS. McKELLAR:  No, I agree with you.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  We don't want Mr. Rogers to get angry with me.  


All right.  I finished benchmarking.  And I am going to move on to the Hay study and compensation, which doesn't have an actual report, but there are a series of undertakings and a couple of references that establish what it is.  


So the first thing, I want to make sure I have the name right.  I understand that Hay Management Consultants was hired by Hydro One to assist with management compensation?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  We already made reference to the fact    that they recommended that the majority of the pay bands for management be increased because Hydro One had or was falling below the 75th percentile that you were targeting?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  My memory is that they said that most of the pay bands could be -- should be increased.  


Would it be possible for you to provide us, obviously by undertaking, if it is easier, which of the pay bands were increased and how they were increased?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I can do that.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Can you tell me off the top of your head, there were ten pay bands. 


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  It said the majority of pay bands should be increased.  How many were actually increased out of the ten?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I think eight, but I may be off.  But I think eight. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Could I ask you to give an undertaking to provide that?  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  And that will be number K4.5.  


UNDERTAKING NO. K4.5:  TO PROVIDE WHICH PAY BANDS 
WERE INCREASED AND HOW THEY WERE INCREASED  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  


Mr. St. Clair has reminded me that if I was, wanted an undertaking on the percentage of employees in Toronto and outside of Toronto, and I think I asked for it but I might not have.  


MR. ROGERS:  You did...


You did, but then I took you to withdrawn it, but if you want it we'll do it.  You're talking about the updated information and Ms. McKellar said in the new information she got from PA, they didn't reference the metropolitan area.  Do you want the information?


MS. CAMPBELL:  If you could, and I apologize for being so easily distracted.  So if I could have that undertaking, also, I would appreciate it, and that second undertaking is J4.6.  And that is percentage of Hydro One employees in Toronto and those outside.  Obviously if we have one, we have the other.  Thank you.


UNDERTAKING NO. K4.6:  TO PROVIDE THE PERCENTAGE OF 

HYDRO ONE EMPLOYEES IN AND OUTSIDE GTA

MS. NOWINA:  Just to be clear, Ms. Campbell, GTA or Toronto proper?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I think we should say GTA, thank you very much.  Greater Toronto Area.  Thank you very much.


Now, getting back to Hay Management Consultants, my understanding ‑‑ and this derives from an answer to an interrogatory, which is J7.21.  So J7.21.  What I am keying in on is on page 2, and it's point B.


And there was a request that was made for production of the report that Hay Management Consultants made.  The answer given was:

"The recommendations may by Hay Management Consultants regarding management compensation were made in a presentation to the Hydro One board and contains confidential employee information.  Please refer to J1.41 for the table showing Hydro One base salary comparison."


So I take it -- I'm not sure from that answer whether the recommendations that were made were simply oral and there is no report, or there is a report, but you're exerting confidentiality because of the information in the written report.


MS. McKELLAR:  There was no written report.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, so there was no written report.


And if I turn to J1.41, which is the Hydro One base salary comparison, this is some of the information that Hay provided to the board of directors, I take it?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And this chart that I am looking at demonstrates what?


MS. McKELLAR:  This chart looks at the Hay 44 selected organizations, which is the comparator group that our board wanted to use.  They felt it was a very good comparator group for Hydro One.  The 75 percentile, that the Hydro One midpoint salary, that represents 100 percent of the salary band, which also equates to fully competent in the job.  Then you move over to the Hay 44 group, their midpoint, so their 100 percent of their band, that is the salary dollars.  You show the difference between Hydro One and the comparator group's salary in that band.


So, for example, in band 2, based on the comparator group, Hydro One would be paying 87 percent of what the comparator group was paying at the 75th percentile.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And there was one other ‑‑ before I ask you some questions, one other IR that I found that had information taken from Hay, statistical information, and that is J5.61.  This was an interrogatory from VECC.


What was produced was a schedule that illustrates how Hydro One's total cash compensation for each of the ten management employee bands compares with the Hay all-industrial component for the same year.


So that's J5.61, and it is on the back of that, so it is page 2.


MS. McKELLAR:  I'm sorry, do you have a question about that?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I am going to.  I just want to make sure that I have the two ‑‑ is there any other information from Hay that is reproduced in the interrogatories?


MS. McKELLAR:  No.  No, there isn't.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Just those two charts?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's right.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right, thank you.


You've made reference to the fact that there were 44 comparators, and you said that the Board thought these were the appropriate comparators.  Can you describe the comparators to me?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I can.  It started ‑‑ these comparator groups were extracted from what's called the Hay all-industrial, which is a very large group of companies that we had considered using for comparators.  


The Hydro One board of directors felt that we should pare that down, look at more electricity sector-specific companies or companies where we thought we perhaps would compete for staff, and they came up with the 44.  


I have a list that I could -- I'm not sure I have it with me, but I do have a list of the 44 companies.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I would really appreciate receiving a copy of that list.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Yes, we will.  And I just advise my witnesses any time they volunteer, you will get a request.


MS. McKELLAR:  I didn't look.  I didn't look.


MS. NOWINA:  We will take an undertaking for that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  The undertaking for that would be K4.7.


UNDERTAKING NO. K4.7:  TO PROVIDE LIST OF 44 

COMPANIES IDENTIFIED AS "HAY 44 SELECTED ORGS"

MS. CAMPBELL:  And the undertaking is to provide the list of the 44 companies who form the basis for the -- what's called in the charts -- or, sorry, in the interrogatories, Hay 44 selected orgs.  It sounds like Tolkien.


 MS. NOWINA:  I have to point out, Mr. Rogers, that sometimes when the witnesses volunteer, it saves us ten or 15 minutes of waiting for the request to be made.  So if she can see it coming, that's helpful.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, the 44 companies ‑ I know you are going to give me the identification ‑ can you tell me how they just break down now, how you would group them?  Are they all electricity, or are they transmission, distribution?  What are they?


MS. McKELLAR:  Some are in the electricity sector.  I believe CN is on there, CP, so private and public investor companies, a range.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And is it strictly Canadian or is it North American?


MS. McKELLAR:  North American.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And when was Hay retained to assist you with the compensation issue and provide this information to the Board, ultimately provide the information to the Board?


MS. McKELLAR:  We have been working with Hay for several years now in terms of establishing salary bands and so forth.  So I would say our relationship has gone back several years, using them as consultants to guide us in management compensation.


In terms of introducing this new comparator group, this happened in 2006.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, the issue of management compensation straddles distribution and transmission, doesn't it, because it is one group that acts as management for both companies?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  As I said before, our employees are integrated.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  And in the distribution case, when we were talking about management compensation, Hydro One filed evidence by Towers Perrin?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  We provided you, in advance, with an undertaking that was asked for and given in that case, and I have ‑‑ I am trying to figure out what Hay did and what Towers Perrin did, because they both appear to have information on management compensation, the same group.  I will stand here.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell, why don't you ask Mr. Thiessen to give it out, and then you can continue?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Or I can continue bellowing. 


So what I find somewhat problematic and I am going to ask you some questions about is the role that Hay has played and the evidence concerning the role that Towers Perrin played with regard to compensation for the same group.


So what Mr. Thiessen is passing out and what should probably be marked as an exhibit in this case was an interrogatory that was asked by Energy Probe.  It has an exhibit number on it, Exhibit H, tab 4, schedule 7, and it's two pages long.  


It has to do with questions that were asked about management compensation in the distribution case.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's mark it as an exhibit first.


MS. CAMPBELL:  The exhibit number -- L4.5 is the exhibit number.



EXHIBIT NO. L4.5:  ENERGY PROBE INTERROGATORY, 

EXHIBIT H, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 7, TWO PAGES.

MS. CAMPBELL:  And the question was:   

"Provide the industrial comparators used for 2005 and 2006 that were used to determine the labour escalation rates for members of the Society and management compensation employees."  


And the response was that:  

"The industrial comparators used for 2005 and 2006 to determine the labour escalation rates for management compensation employees come from a survey conducted by Towers Perrin."  

Then there is a list of 13 industrial comparators, and they are named.  And that's only the top part.  The rest of that IR talks about Society.  I just want to focus on management.


And this was filed in distribution, as I said.  And it relates to the same group of people.  So I don't understand the role that Hay Management has now played in 2006 and the evidence that was filed about escalators for the same group of people by Towers Perrin, again, in a case that was heard and decided in 2006.  Can you explain that?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Sure.  We'd been working with Hay Management Consultants to guide us, as I said, in deciding management compensation.  They in turn were utilizing the Towers Perrin survey.  So we were working with them.  They were using the Towers Perrin survey.  We'd been using that survey since 2001 and found it to be very volatile.  Many of the companies that you see on the list were just added that year.  They had about a 50 percent turnover.  So the same companies were not participating year over year and we didn't feel the data was very stable.  


Hay recommended and our board thought it made sense to go to a more stable comparator group which was the Hay all-industrial and a refinement was the Hay 44, which we thought was a better comparison.  So the reason were not using this is we didn't feel it was stable enough for comparison purposes. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  But if it wasn't stable enough, why was it used in the distribution case?  This is what I don't understand.  


MS. McKELLAR:  We'd been using particular variant of the Towers Perrin list since 2001.  We had been using that year over year, and we had seen there was a lot of volatility around the list.  When we looked at that in 2006 and Hay said, We actually think there is a more stable list you should be using, our board agreed, felt it was a better comparator list. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  So in 2006, when Hay is making recommendations for an increase in pay bands, the increase is based upon the 44 companies that we're discussing right now, they're 44, I forget what they term them -- 44 Hay all-industrial.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  But at the same time, you're filing evidence that talks about management compensation, using a Towers Perrin study that you feel is not solid enough.  


MS. McKELLAR:  We had actually filed this evidence before we had entered into the new comparator list.  This evidence was written and we were using this evidence or this comparator group at the time he this was filed. 


It was after this was filed that Hay was in discussions with us, many of these companies were no longer participating in the survey.  And they said, We think we have a better list for you to use.  It was taken to our board, in terms of a presentation.  The board said, Yes, in fact they thought it was an excellent list, much better than the one we had been using prior to that.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  So when did Hay start advising the board on compensation?  Was it just in 2006?  Or have they been working with the board prior to that?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I would have to check the exact dates, but, no, they had been working several years now with Hydro One board of directors in terms of consulting on management compensation.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Did Towers Perrin ever advise on compensation, or was it just the comparators that were used?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Just their comparators that were used. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  So in 2006 the advice that was followed by the Board was the advice from Hay, not Towers Perrin?  


MS. McKELLAR:  It was the advice from Hay, that's correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Well, yes, that's right.  But at some point they changed during 2006, I gather, to this new group.  But as I understand it, it was still the Hay group that was the lead consultant. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  There were base increases that we have talked about that started in 2003, the recommendation to increase the base salaries.  And I went -- at the beginning, we talked about the fact it went up, I think it was 3 percent, 3-1/2 percent and 4 percent for management. 


MS. McKELLAR:  It is in the evidence, yes. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Who recommended that? 


MS. McKELLAR:  That's Hay consultants. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  So they recommended the 2004, 2005, 2006?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, they did.  I might add, if it's appropriate to do so, that one of the reasons we were looking at another comparator group as well, as I mentioned, particularly last year when we were out in the market looking for specific positions, we were getting turned down based on the compensation package we were offering and we were losing some of our best staff, as well.  So we started to investigate the market.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  


The next issue that I want to talk about has to do with incentive payments.  So this is actually part of management and it has to do with something that's contained, again, in the reasons that were given in the distribution case.  So I am just going to find that particular section.  


Again, it's Procedural Order No. 2.  It's on page 3.  And the paragraph I am going to read is 3.4.6 -- comes from 3.4.6, and it says:   

"VECC noted that none of the 3.4 million in incentive payments paid to employees have been charged to the shareholder when achievement of target net income is one of the factors in the criteria for incentive pay.  While the Board does not consider the achievement of net income to be a factor that works only for the benefit of the shareholder, as customers also benefit by a financially healthy utility through higher credit ratings and good service, the Board would be concerned if that factor predominated compared to the other factor determining incentive pay.  The Board expects Hydro One to file appropriate evidence in the next main rates case to establish that none of the incentive composition should be charged to the shareholder."  


Now, if I look at IR 31, that's J -- sorry, 39, I apologize.  Keeping that in mind.  If we could go to J1.39.  


When I read the answer to the undertaking here and the question was:  "Where is the evidence that the Board said should be filed."  I will just repeat the sentence:  

"The Board expects Hydro One to file appropriate evidence in the next main rates case to establish that none of the incentive compensation should be charged to the shareholder."  


And the request was to provide the evidence that supports that.  And the answer that came back, if I summarize it, is that management incentive payments relate to achieving goals that benefit ratepayers, and that is essentially Hydro One's position.  Am I correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Just to make sure that the answer is fully put on there, because I think it is an important issue.  It states at the bottom:  

"It should be noted that net income objectives benefit customers in that they are related to the achievement of approved rates of return, as well as maintaining appropriate credit ratings while effectively managing efficiency."  


Turning over the page: 

"The achievement of any one of these targets such as net income does not necessarily result in an incentive paid to management, incentive payments are contingent upon the achievement of a range of measures.  Accordingly, Hydro One maintains that since these targets directly benefit customers, it is appropriate that customers should pay all costs including the costs of incentive payments associated with achieving those benefits."  


My question to you is:  Is that the evidence on which 

-- which you consider to meet the requirement by the Board that you demonstrate why none of the incentive payments should be borne by the shareholder?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's the evidence that we have to present.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  One of the things that I would like to look at now is something that, to my mind seems to link the shareholders' dividends to, in fact, the achievement of a higher net income, which results in higher dividends.  


And so one of my issues that I have when I look at this is, I don't see it as 100 percent only-ratepayer benefit.  I see some benefit to the shareholder, and I want to explore that with you.


What I want to look at are basically, when I was reading ‑‑ when I was reading the annual reports, which I did for fun on the weekend, one of the things that I noticed in the annual reports were comments, on page 5 of the annual report.  This is a single sentence, but I am telling you it is at page 5 of the 2005 annual report.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell, are they marked as exhibits in this case?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I don't have the exhibit number.  I know they were filed and I don't know ‑‑ it was Exhibit A, appendix ‑‑ A10.1.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Ms. Campbell.


MS. CAMPBELL:  The statement on page 5 is simply, it's in the second paragraph.  It is:  

"2005 was a dynamic year for our company.  Hydro One earned a profit of $483 million and we paid our shareholder, the province of Ontario, an excellent dividend."


And a similar comment was made in -- at page 6 of the 2004 report, which was a net income of $407 million: 

"We paid our shareholder a healthy dividend."


And when I look at the AIF that was filed, and the excerpts of the annual information form, which were previously ‑‑ my friends are aware of the pages that we're going to be looking at.  This is the renewal annual information form for the year ending December 31st, 2006 dated ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Are you giving an exhibit number for this?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, I am.  It is dated February 16th, 2007 and the exhibit number would be L4.6.



EXHIBIT NO. L4.6:  RENEWAL ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM 

FOR YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2006 DATED FEBRUARY 16, 

2007.

MS. CAMPBELL:  So when I look at page 10 of the AIF, if you look at page 10 and I go down to the bottom where it says "financial", it talks about ensuring our actions ‑‑ I'm sorry:

"Ensure our actions contribute towards maximizing the value of our company while maintaining effective access to funds on a long-term basis at reasonable rates and delivering appropriate financial returns to our shareholder."


Again, at page 46 under the heading of "Dividends", the second paragraph:   

"Our company's policy is to declare and pay cash dividends on our common shares on the basis of a calculation involving our regulated net income, net of preferred dividends and non‑regulated net income.  Any factor that adversely affects the company's net income would likely be reflected in our dividend payments."


And the purpose of reading all of that verbiage to you is simply to say that upon my reading, the net income appears to be linked to dividends, i.e., any factor that adversely affects our company's net income will likely be reflected in our dividend payments.


So to my mind, and I would appreciate your input on this, because net income is linked to dividends, the shareholder benefits of the net income is higher.  So if part of compensation criteria for an incentive payment is to get ‑‑ is net income, then surely there is a linkage between the shareholder and net income and incentive payments.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Perhaps I can help with part of the response, and then perhaps Ms. McKellar will add in.


In terms of our company, we are a commercially based company.  We are incorporated under the Ontario Business Corporations Act.  For us to earn net income and pay dividends is a very natural fallout of being ‑‑ having a commercial mandate and being incorporated in that manner.


So the fact that we earn net income and pay dividends is not unusual.  And, furthermore, it is extremely important for us to have access to funds on a long-term basis to support the type of work programs that we have brought here before you.


To maintain access to funds on a reasonable basis and for the long term, we have to maintain certain coverage ratios and certain financial parameters that are looked upon in the borrowing market and by the debt rating agencies.  


So it is an extremely important part of our business to maintain financial integrity, if I can use that expression.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm not taking issue with that at all.


My question, quite simply - and I can go back to 

J1.39 - has to do with the fact that part of the ‑‑ one of the criteria on your corporate score card, there are 14 diverse performance measures and one of them deals with net income.  You're taking the position in this hearing that all incentive payments should be paid 100 percent by the ratepayers, nothing by the shareholder.


And I'm pointing out to you that there is a link between the payment of dividends and the achievement of that higher net income.


So what I am saying to you, that because there is a link, I don't understand Hydro One's position that although the shareholders benefit, they don't pay any of the incentive payments.


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, just to add, conversely, we had 14 performance measures in 2006.  If we met only net income, but missed a variety of others, there would be no incentive payment -- I expect there would be no incentive payment.


So in our view, it is one of 14.  They're all important.  It is a balanced score card.  None of them have weightings, and if you manage to get net income at the expense of some of those others, there could very well not be an incentive paid out.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And just a question on the amount of the profit of $483 million and 407.  Has there ever been any consideration to using that profit for capital projects?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Net income is taken into account, in terms of developing the borrowing program, future borrowing programs.  So there is cash made available from sources, such that depreciation and net incomes are taken into account in developing the borrowing program going forward, and the borrowing program is in place predominantly to finance the capital expenditure program.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So I take it you wouldn't consider using the profit for the capital projects?  That's all.  I was just struck by the fact that the amount of the profit would reduce the cost of Bruce to Milton by about $400 million.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, I guess I wasn't clear.  There is a direct relationship between net income and reduced borrowings.


So net income is a factor, in terms of determining how much money is required to be borrowed and helps to reduce borrowing requirements today and in the future.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


My last subject matter is pensions, always a high point to end on.


This requires C1, tab 3, schedule 2, and it's Appendix A.  So it's C1, 3, 2, appendix A.  It's pension costs.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And there was one interrogatory on this, and it's J1.37.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm glad you do.  I can't seem to find mine.  Hang on.  I'm sorry for the delay. 


In J1.37, staff asked Hydro One to estimate the effect on pension costs in 2007 and 2008 following the accounting requirements of the CICA handbook, rather than the cash basis of accounting.  And the Hydro One response was: 

"The estimated total pension costs based on the accounting requirements of the CICA handbook are about $95 million and $85 million for 2007 and 2008 respectively.  On this basis, about $23 million and $20 million would be attributed to transmission operating costs in 2007/2008 respectively.  This compares to $24 million in each of 2007/2008 on a cash basis."  


And the question that I have is that Hydro One uses a cash basis for accounting for pension costs which flows from the 1998-0001 decision.  


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And based on the response that you gave, the accrued pension expense would be lower by a million in 2007 and 4 million in 2008?  


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  And the trouble that we have at this end is it doesn't appear to be consistent with the evidence in a previous case, which is the 2004-0180 case.  


I apologize.  I don't seem to have copies of that right now.  Let me just read it to you.  Hydro One's evidence noted in the 2004 case: 

"Were the Board to have ruled that pension costs should be accounted on an accrual basis rather than on a cash basis, the pension cost to the Hydro One companies in 2004 would be $124 million rather than the lower cash cost of $105 million."  


So in that case, Hydro One advised that a change to an accrual methodology would increase costs.  And in this case, such a change would result in a decrease.  


Since both responses appear to be based on the actuarial evidence, same actuarial evidence, can you explain what is driving the different results under an accrual method?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Let me attempt to give you a high level response.  The details of the specific calculations, then, and today, I don't have with me.  But it would not be unusual for the calculations to yield a different number.  They're at different point in times.  The assumption is consistent with the pension plan back then versus when this estimate was done, I'm assuming, have changed.  


Discount rate, inflation rates, morality rates.  There is a series of factors which I am sure have changed that explains the -- why one calculation would yield one number at one point and a different number at another point.  I'm not surprised that they're different.  The exact factor to cause the difference, I don't have with me.  But the fact that they're different is not surprising at all.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I notice that it is quarter to three.  


MS. NOWINA:  It is.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And I also have been reminded that I actually have questions on the next set of issues that have to be dealt with also and that net set of issues is -- I apologize, 3.2, you will recall panel 3 is addressing three distinct issues.  The next issue is 3.2:  Are the amounts proposed for capital expenditures in 2007 and 2008 appropriate?  So I have questions on that.  I apologize.  I'd forgotten all about that one.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's take a 15-minute break and resume at 3 o'clock.  


--- Recess taken at 2:46 p.m.


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 3:06 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Mr. Rogers, are you going to tell us about the next panel?


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  The next panel, panel 4, will address a number of topics, some of which are not really directly related.  So it was suggested by some of the intervenors, I think, that we consider breaking it into different groups and go through the order of cross-examination several times by topic.


We have talked about it among ourselves and I think I have agreed on a sensible approach, subject to your approval.  It is as follows:  Panel 4, we propose to have three blocks of topics.  The first block will include issue 1.3, the revenue requirement for the future; in other words, the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism, and that will also include 1.4, which is the methodology of doing this, and 1.5, which is the inclusion of construction work in process in the revenue requirement adjustment mechanism.


Now, I can tell the Board, by the way, on that revenue requirement adjustment mechanism that is my intention to lead some direct testimony on that topic from Dr. Poirier, who will be here as part of panel 4.


There is some ambiguity about some of the interrogatory responses as to how this exactly will work, and I propose to spend 20 minutes or so with Dr. Poirier to, I hope, set it out in a nice clear fashion for you.


The second block will be block B, issue 3.4, the supply mix inclusion in rate base proposal that the applicant has.  This also relates to issue 1.5, which is the construction work in process, but it is essentially that whole issue around the applicant's proposal to include the four projects in rate base as the capital is deployed.


The third block of evidence would consist of issue 4.3, which is the cost of debt and preference shares, issue 8.1 and 8.2, the deferral account issue involving the Ontario Energy Board costs.  There is one deferral account that the Board did not approve and which the applicant seeks in this case.


Finally, for that last block of evidence, issue 9.1, which is the earnings sharing mechanism for 2006, the adjustments that are made in the amount because of the out-of-period adjustments, and the ‑‑ there is one other.  Something to do with capital proposal.  Construction capital proposal?  


MR. THIESSEN:  Contributed capital proposal.


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, contributed capital proposal.  That is part of 9.1, as well.  That is the proposal to which I think everyone agrees, subject to your approval, of course.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Rogers.  Thank you.  That answers your question, Ms. Girvan?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair, if I might.  Just on a scheduling issue, I have a commitment tomorrow morning, which means that I am going to have a very difficult time being here.  In the circumstances, it looks highly unlikely that I would be reached for cross‑examination this afternoon in relation to the current panel.


What I was hoping is that there is a reasonable prospect that tomorrow morning will be consumed with this panel, in any event.  I can be here after lunch, but I just don't want to miss the boat, so to speak, and was hoping that perhaps if things finish a little early tomorrow in the morning, that I would be permitted to come in after lunch and do my cross‑examination of this panel, in any event.  But things are just shaping up timing-wise differently than I had anticipated.


MS. NOWINA:  I don't think you're the only one, Mr. Stephenson, who is feeling like that.


Ms. Campbell, do you have a sense of how much longer you are going to take this afternoon?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, I really dread giving you any ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  So far you haven't been right on the money.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I have been appallingly bad at that and I will probably continue in the tradition of being completely wrong, but I am just going to walk right into it and I am going to say 30 to 45 minutes, and you are going to look at the clock and say, Whew, and then 30 to 45 minutes from now, as I'm continuing speaking, you will be looking at me with daggers.


But, hopefully, no.  This next section is very discrete and I hope we can do it in 30 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell, why don't you do it within 30 to 45 minutes?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Then, Mr. Stephenson, we can finish you today.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I am more than happy to do that.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Terrific.  Thank you.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL (Continued):


MS. CAMPBELL:  This very last part is the Staff's questions, the last question for ‑‑ sorry, issue for this particular panel, which is 3.2:  Are the amounts proposed for capital expenditures in 2007 and 2008 appropriate?


The references for this are D1, tab 3, schedule 5.  Now, this panel is constituted to cover the capital expenditure costs or corporate costs, also referred to as shared services.  This is only going to look at the corporate level costs, the gross costs.  It is not going to go into the amount allocated to distribution or transmission.


The first part that I would like to deal with is four main areas of ‑‑ sorry.  The first part I would like to deal with, table 2 on page 2.  This is the total capital budget for shared services, and this shows an up and down pattern to 2005 and 2006 with a doubling of the expenditure in the test year, and then a reduction of the expenditure in 2008.


The evidence shows that the significant increase in 2007 is due to a 283 percent increase in the IT category from 34 million in the bridge year to 131 million in the 2007 test year.


Now, on page 3 of the prefiled evidence, Hydro One indicated that a number of the applications had not been upgraded since the late 1990s.  And that is in the very last paragraph, which starts at line 21.  And the applications are Customer One, which is customer information and billing system, 1998; Passport, which deals with accounts payable, purchasing, inventory and supply management system, 1999; and PeopleSoft, financial and human resources system, 1999.


My question to you is:  Why were these not upgraded earlier?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It's not a matter of:  Why were they not upgraded earlier?  It is a question more of:  When was it appropriate to upgrade the applications?  It is currently appropriate to upgrade the applications now, because they're at end of life and no longer supported by the vendor.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So, in other words, what you're saying to me is they were appropriate and were supported by the vendor until very recently?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The applications run on both hardware and also on databases.  To an extent, through our own expertise, we have been able to support the applications because the applications have been heavily customized.  However, the Oracle databases which they run on, the DB2 databases, are no longer supported by the vendor, and the hardware that they run on is no longer supported by the vendor, as well.  


So it is appropriate now for us to look at replacement of those applications, and that's what we're doing.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, I understand that you are going to replace all of these projects -- all of these applications, rather, with an ‑‑ in a project you referred to as Cornerstone?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you describe what Cornerstone is and what the rationale is for upgrading all of the systems in a single project.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The actual Cornerstone project is a multi‑year project, so it is not as though we are replacing or upgrading all applications at once.  We're doing it in a series of phases over time.


The first phase is to replace the Passport system.  The second phase is to add some additional functionality associated with asset management.  The third phase is to upgrade the PeopleSoft applications, which won't be supported at that point in time, and the fourth phase is to replace the Customer One application and that's to be done over the next five years.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So what are the advantages to doing this all at once?  I'm sorry, you're staggering it, but doing it in one big project.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The advantage to doing it the way we're doing it is we're going to an enterprise system.  Prior probably this year and in fact it now makes sense to do an enterprise replacement.  We did a study back in 2005, brought in some consultants to advise us what would be the appropriate strategy.  They concluded it made sense for us to go to an enterprise strategy, rather than the best of breed application structure that we currently have. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you explain to me -- you used the term "enterprise" a couple of times.  What do you mean when you say use an enterprise system?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  An enterprise system allows the actual modules or applications to speak to each other.  So information is moved from one application to another application or is available to each of the applications.  You end up with information which can be seen across the board and can be used across a number of applications at the same time.  So an enterprise system allows you to do that. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Are there any disadvantages to proceeding the way that you've elected to proceed?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  We believe that we have taken the appropriate approach to doing it, which is a staged and phased approach.  We haven't committed ourselves to a replacement of the Customer One application, but what we have done is committed ourselves to an SAP enterprise system which will give us the interface and the interoperability for the main financial systems which is the finance package, the payroll package, and also the work management and accounts payable package.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  So do I take it from your answer you don't view there to be any disadvantages in the manner in which you're proceeding?  So when you evaluated whether to go with the Cornerstone, the Cornerstone approach, it was generally positive, you felt?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  We spent a considerable amount of time evaluating whether to proceed with this enterprise strategy.  And we did it with consultation from two independent consultants that we retained.  We spent quite a lot of time thinking about how to do it.  It is a major project and it is a major disruption to the business. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Are there quantifiable savings that will result from this?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  We have identified some quantifiable savings associated with certainly phase one, which is where the focus is currently.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And what are those savings?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  The savings really around how we do business.  We are -- we're changing the philosophy of how we operate.  We're moving to off-the-shelf applications.  Off-the-shelf applications allow us to have those applications updated rather than sort of going through these monumental replacements of systems.  Because we are going to an off-the-shelf application, there is significant change in how we do business and business processes that have to be adjusted to work with the application.  


So there will be benefits coming out of it that we have identified, particularly around our inventory management, the end-to-end visibility of some of the functions that we do.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I used the word "quantifiable" and I am wondering whether you would be able to quantify the savings, or is it just at large that you anticipate savings and you are unable to attach a number to them or a percentage?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  When we commenced with phase one of the Cornerstone replacement, we went through a discovery phase, prior to obtaining the board approval to proceed.  


During that discovery phase, we identified some quantifiable savings which we have identified at the low range of around $14 million per year.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Fourteen million dollars per year?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  And that relates to the phase one?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  That relates to just phase one, yes. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Just relates to phase one, okay.  So $14 million per year going forward?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  We have estimated the application to have a seven-year life cycle and that will be when the application is no longer supported by SAP, at least that version of it.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  


Now, I just want to ask a question before I go back.  I have a question at page 8 that relates to table 4 at page 8, and that's again D1, tab 3, schedule 5, page 8 is table 4.  And the heading is:  Software refresh and maintenance program, capital expenditures.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  I see that, yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  And I see in the bridge year, I see one million.  Then in 2007, it's 6.6.  And first of all, is the increase in that attributable to Cornerstone?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  The answer to your question is, no.  This is without Cornerstone in it.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  This is without Cornerstone in it.  All right.  One of the things that I notice is that there is, aside from that big bump up, if I look at the bottom, the numbers from 2006 to 2007 go down by 2 million and then go up again by close to 2 million.  Can you explain what the bump down and then up represents?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  In 2006, the focus was on the Windows XP replacement program.  We did some work on the BEA software, we have approximately 700 applications that we run.  We would like to keep those applications relatively current so we know we have to do some work with the COGNO software as well we want to do some additional work with the Portal software as well.  So we have a program for a spend of updating those applications.  And that's what that represents in each of the 2007 and 2008, is a program related to the non-Cornerstone applications.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  Thank you.  


At page 10, table 5, this is called the IT minor fixed assets program, capital expenditures, this particular table.  


Looking at that table, I notice that the investment falls significantly in the 2007 test year, and again in 2008.  Is this related to Cornerstone?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  In 2006, the costs that you see are primarily related to the XP upgrade.  In 2007 and 2008, we don't have those costs.  So we spent a lot of money on laptops and desktops.  We're not sure exactly what we require with the new Microsoft Vista application.  We believe that the actual requirements are probably understated for their use and that we will look at some investment in that, in terms of bringing the hardware up to date next year, but not this year.  We're also doing some server upgrades and also looking at XS or recovery structure that will be put into place with the Cornerstone project.  So we have a number of programs and projects.  In this case, the spend goes down because we're not forecasting spending a lot of money on other items.  Our focus is really on the Cornerstone project.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Speaking of the Cornerstone project, in your original application, the estimate of the Cornerstone plan was about $63 million, and since you have updated, the Cornerstone project has increased to $130 million and then $102 million in 2007 and $28 million in 2008.  


This is shown in -- I'm sorry, the increase is in table 2, which is page 2 of D1, tab 3, schedule 5.  This is the bridge year, which is 2006, shows 89.1 million and then there is that huge bump, 2007/2008. 


What I want to understand is, between the time that you filed and the time that you updated, a significant change in thought occurred, obviously.  Can you give us some idea of why, between September to the time of updating, this change -- Hydro One made this decision? 


MR. STRUTHERS:  I alluded to it just a little bit in my previous answer.  We've spent a lot of time with this project.  We originally started looking at the Cornerstone replacement as a result of a IT study, with respect to what should be our enterprise solution and what made sense to do back in November of 2005.  


We issued an RFP in May of 2006 and went through a 

vendor selection process.  We went also through, once we had selected the vendors, and we also went through a discovery phase before we actually got approval to go ahead with the project.  


The reason behind that, and why the numbers changed, was that in the initial phase, we were looking for sort of what it might cost, so that people can understand the magnitude of what we were proposing.  Hence the $60 million was based on a number of what I would call high-level consultants' estimates as to what the project would cost to do just on a like-for-like replacement with respect to the Passport application.  


When we were going through the discovery phase before we issued the RFP, we spoke to a number of other utilities in North America who had gone through something similar.  Their recommendation to us was that, as part of what we did, we were doing the RFP with a phasing in it, so that when we selected the vendor, we would go through a discovery phase, clearly understand what the scope was supposed to be, clearly understand what we were trying to do and come to a hard and fast number that we could then hold the vendors to.


What we have found sort of, or they had found in prior experience was that if they didn't go through that, their initial numbers had a tendency to escalate.  So we took a more thought-through or developed approach to it.  So the $60 million is ‑‑ was a high level estimate.  The $140 that we are now looking at is a much more understood, much more clearly understood scope, much more clearly understood what it is that we're actually doing.  And there have been changes in what we proposed initially versus what we thought we were going to do versus what we are ending up going ‑‑ that we are going to do, and that came out during the discovery.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Just to assist anyone who might like to see it laid out in a slightly different way, one of the updates filed February 23rd, 2007 is found at D2, tab 2, schedule 2, page 5, and it lists the Cornerstone phases 1, 3, 4 and 2.  And I assume 1, 3, 4 and 2 is the order in which they will be done?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Why are they listed that way, then?  That's D2, tab 2, schedule 2, page 5 of 5, updated February 23rd.  It has Cornerstone phase 1, phase 3, phase 4, mobile IT, and then Cornerstone phase 2.  I just found that a little confusing, because I thought it would have been phase 1, 2, 3 and 4.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It's supposed to be phases 1, 2, 3 and 4.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I thought this was some sort of high‑level thought that there was just a faster way of doing these things by switching them around.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry, what is the reference?


MS. CAMPBELL:  It is D2, tab 2, schedule 2, page 5 of 5, updated February 23rd, 2007.  So is that just an error in the way that they're listed?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I believe that the mobile IT should have been left as IT 5.  I think it was how the material was put together.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  And you are going to move smoothly from 1, 2, 3 and 4?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The expectation is we will move smoothly from 1, 2, 3 and 4, yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, as opposed to 1, 3, 4 and 2.  Okay, thank you.  While I am on that page, I notice that the only estimate that you have provided concerning the cost of Cornerstone is for phase 1, and for 2007 it is now $102 million and for 2008 it is $28 million.  


I don't have any estimates for any of the other phases.  Can you tell me why you can't provide that information now?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  To answer your question, the ‑‑ we don't want to create the same confusion we just created by putting a number on the table, and then have to come back, as we get further into it and understand better what we're trying to do.  We didn't want, therefore, to put something as a number on the table that would not make any sense so that we wouldn't be able to support.  


We felt it more appropriate, as we got into the projects and understood how we were going to deal with the projects, that we came back to you with those numbers.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you tell me when you anticipate incurring costs for phase 2, 3 and 4?  What's the time line on that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, you said it is to take place over, I think, a seven‑year period; am I correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't want to misspeak here, so I want to give you the right -- the phase 1 project is intended to be completed by the end of Q1 2008.  Phase 2 is intended to be completed by Q2 2009.  Phase 3 is intended to be completed by Q3 2009, and then phase 4 is intended to be completed, I believe it is, Q2 2011.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can I take it, from the fact that they're very close in dates, that phase 2 and 3 are relatively minor, because they occur in the second quarter and third quarter of 2009, respectively?


MR. STRUTHERS:  They are somewhat distinct, and I will explain the distinction.


The phase 2 is very much an add-on to phase 1.  It adds additional functionality that we deliver in phase 1.


Phase 2 is somewhat separate ‑‑ sorry, phase 3 is somewhat separate.  It is the finance and the HR applications, and they can be done effectively as a project unto themselves.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And phase 4, which doesn't take place until -- it is anticipated to finish in the second quarter of 2011, what is that?  That has a long lead on it.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is to replace the Customer One application.


MS. CAMPBELL:  That's the one you're not sure about replacing?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We will replace it.  We have not yet made a decision as to what we will replace it with.  It's partly dependent on what happens through the smart metering program and what happens to the market in Ontario between now and the time we have to start making a decision.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  I appreciate that you don't want to give us an estimate of costs, and I can understand your concern that -- because you don't want to mislead us on what the cost might be.


Can you give us some idea of the ballpark?  Are we going to be looking at a number that is comparable to the costs of phase 1, or will it be a percentage of phase 1, like 20 percent -- roughly 20 to 25 percent of phase 1, just to get an estimate of what this entire thing will cost?


MR. STRUTHERS:  To complete all four phases?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  A rough ballpark, and I will caveat it by saying it is a ballpark --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  -- is probably in the $400 million range.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, thank you.  Roughly 130 million of that appears to be phase 1 in 2007/2008?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And will we see the cost of that playing out equally through the years, or will we see big chunks come in?  In other words, phase 4 will cost 300 million.  Can you give me an idea of the weighting of the phases that have yet ‑‑ don't have a cost attached to them.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  Again, with the same caveat I gave you before.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Certainly.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would estimate that phase 2 and 3 would be equivalent to the cost of phase 1 and that phase 4 would be equivalent to the cost of phase 1, as well, separately.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Now, there aren't any funds budgeted at this time for 2009/2010.  I take it the reason for not budgeting those funds is because of the caution that you expressed about committing to a number?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you look at the schedules that we provided, they only go through 2008, so -- and as I stated before, we're not in a position to be able to define what the numbers would be 2009/2010.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Actually, one of your updates, Cornerstone phase 4, and this was an update that would be contained -- where would I find it?


Okay, I understand it's behind ‑‑ it's a blue sheet.  Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 2.  We've already gone to page 5.  And behind page 5 are a number of documents, blue sheets updating Cornerstone and a number of other projects.  And the reference that I have, and the reason I ask the question about nothing down for 2009/2010, is sparked by the update reference number IT 3 in the upper right-hand corner.  So it is Cornerstone phase 4.


When I go down, I simply -- when I look at it, I just see that there are -- when you were answering some of these questions, you had templates that came out that included 2009/2008.


I am just wondering why we have the columns set up, if you haven't already turned your mind to it, because I guess in the previous answer, you had filled in 2008 and now we don't have any costs.  And I guess that's where the concern comes from.  


So the white sheet for IT 3 actually had obviously budgeted for 2008, and nothing in the updated.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I stated before, my concern or our concern is that we would be providing you with numbers that would be inaccurate.  We have not done any work on phases 2 and 3.  We're not in a position to identify even sort of -- I gave you a ballpark only because you asked me for a ballpark.  I certainly wouldn't want to put in a number and mislead the Panel. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  I have one interrogatory that I want to make reference to and that is J1.75.  It's simply the second sentence in the response which simply states, after indicating that updated tables will be filed:  

"These tables will show lower capital expenses on IT in 2006 as a result of a revised approach to the Cornerstone project, which at this time has postponed significant investments from 2006."  


Can you explain to me that statement a little bit more?  I didn't quite understand it when I was reading it.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I would be happy to.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  


MR. STRUTHERS:  We had intended that we would have incurred about $8 million worth of capital costs in 2006 --   


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  


MR. STRUTHERS: -- as a result of partly the discovery process, but also Board approval.  Those costs are actually going to be incurred in 2007.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  One final question on the actual prefiled evidence, which is -- and the question comes from page 23.  


So that's D1, tab 3, schedule 5, page 23.  It's the bullet point that is at line 23 on that page.  

"Project contingency costs estimated at 20 percent of total costs are higher largely resulting from the increase in core project costs."  


Can you please explain that?  


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  The contingency cost is based on the total costs of the project before contingency.  As the costs of the project goes up, contingency is estimated at 20 percent, that number also increases as well.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  


I'm sorry, just one more.  All right.  Mr. Thiessen has just given me the assurance that I actually don't have to ask that question, and as a result, I did it in 25 minutes.  So Mr. Thiessen deserves an award.  


Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.  I appreciate your help.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Campbell.  Mr. Stephenson.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Stephenson:  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good afternoon, panel.  Madam Chair, I was remiss when we were doing the attendances, the appearances.  I should have mentioned that I'm assisted in this proceeding by Mr. Baju Kadani who is here with me and he should be on the record.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Panel, I am going to ask you some questions about the compensation area.  And what I want to explore with you is the fact that, with respect to compensation, Hydro One is a participant in a demand and supply market for the labour services that it needs in order to perform its work.  As a broad proposition, would you accept that?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And at the moment, I get almost on a weekly basis notices for conferences in the electricity sector about a variety of subjects, but the two that come up the most is dealing with the aging infrastructure crisis and dealing with the aging work force crisis.  


I take it you're familiar with the fact that these are major topics in the North American power sector; is that fair?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I am. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that these are subject to, there has been many papers an conferences about these subjects on a North American basis; correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  And I take it that, in terms of the labour market, for the foreseeable future this is perceived to be a seller's market, that is the sellers of labour, it is a seller's market; fair?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Fair. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  An the natural consequence -- all things being equal -- of that is that prices will tend to be higher rather than lower.  Fair?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't want to focus -- last time I cross-examined you, Ms. McKellar, I focussed a little bit on the past and I want to actually forget about the past for now.  Not worry so much about that but focus on the future in terms of where you are going.  


In terms of dealing with, let's deal with your organized work forces for the time being.  


As a general proposition, at the best of times, in terms of collective bargaining, concession bargaining is a very difficult exercise for most employers, typically; fair?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And in a sellers' market, it is doubly or triply difficult; is that fair as a general proposition? 


MS. McKELLAR:  It's more difficult, yes.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  In terms of factors which contribute to the sellers' market, one thing that you explored with Ms. Campbell this morning is the attrition that you are facing because of the vintaging of your work force; correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you discussed about the fact that there are a certain number of people who are eligible for retirement and then there is a certain proportion of them that will likely take retirement in any given year; correct? 


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now am I right that, if last year it was 15 percent, that as a general proposition, we can expect, as a trend, that number to increase over time?  And let me explain to you why I think that is the case, at least logically.  That is because if last year they were first eligible for retirement and 15 percent of them took it, this year of course they're still eligible for retirement and some more may take it up; correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yet there is no cohort that becomes first eligible this year; correct? 


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  So what you get is a building wave over time.  Eventually people will retire, so we can expect that to be an upward trend in a percentage of uptake over time. 


MS. McKELLAR:  That's likely true.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I take it that as a human resource professional, that's one of the things you have to anticipate?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, in addition to the attrition issue, which, I take it, that is relatively speaking a new issue for Ontario Hydro or Hydro One to have had to have dealt with, at least in the last ten years, in fact you have been doing the opposite.  You have been getting rid of people, broadly speaking. 


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Leaving aside the issue of attrition altogether, as I understand it, you are building a bigger business, you're adding to your system.  And even if you were not going to predict to lose anybody, you would still be adding complement to deal with the fact that you were a bigger company with running a bigger business.  


MS. McKELLAR:  We would be getting the work done by a variety of measures, including -- some could be regular staff.  We're using contract staff much more, as Mr. McQueen pointed out when he testified, and we also used temporaries.  We use PWU hiring hall, et cetera.  So I agree, yes, we need more workers whether or not we need to add them to the Hydro One complement.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  Actually let me just clarify that.  I just want to make sure everybody understands exactly how work that is done at Hydro One in terms of categories of employees. 


We've heard about, the first category of employee, if I can describe it, is your permanent full-time staff.  


MS. McKELLAR:  We prefer the term regular, but -- 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough, regular.  Nothing is permanent.  Now, we have talked about the three groups there.  You've got management, you've got PWU and you've got Society, broadly speaking; correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  The second category you've got is what I would call, and you've probably got a better name for it, it is the non‑regular direct hires.  What I'm thinking about here are PWU hiring hall.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Correct?  They are direct employees of Hydro One, but they're just temporary?


MS. McKELLAR:  They're hired by the hiring hall, paid for by Hydro One, yes, and they show up as being temps.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Then there are people that work for, for example, CUSW.  They fit in the same category.  That's the Canadian Union of Skilled Workers?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  They work on capital projects, largely, new build?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's right.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And there are other building trades that fit into the same category, Hydro One employees, plumbers and all ‑‑ any manner of other skilled building trades?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Then there are people that Hydro One uses that are not employees at all; correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Those persons are employees of contractors, broadly speaking, and these are some of the people that are referred to ‑‑ that one of the panel members referred to this morning as outsourced people; correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And those would come into the category -- for example, you may hire a major electrical contractor to build a transmission line, and this is the so‑called turnkey operation; right?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you pay them a fee, and the employees that work for them work for the contractor and not for Hydro One.  They're never employees; correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  At any given time, you may have hundreds of such employees working on projects for Hydro One, none of whom are actually employed by Hydro One; correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  The other people that fit into that category may well be the so‑called consultants of various descriptions; right?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  They're also not employees.  They are hired through some other arrangement.  


Okay, so, broadly speaking, does that cover the waterfront, more or less?  I'm sure there are other minor categories.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me talk to you for a moment about apprenticeship, because I think this may be a microcosm of the issue that you're dealing with more broadly.  


As I understand it, Hydro One did not ‑‑ if we went back into the far past of Ontario Hydro, they had apprenticeships; you are aware of that?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But in the recent past, Hydro One did not have an apprenticeship program; correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  We began them in 2000, I believe.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  I take it the reason that it didn't have it prior to that was because it didn't need it; fair enough?  You had enough skilled people on the ground?


MS. McKELLAR:  We felt we did, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But you came to realize at a point in time that that supply of skilled people had to be replenished?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I assume the reason for that was largely the vintaging issue.  You saw that inevitably coming down the pipe; right?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  It costs money to run an apprenticeship program, doesn't it?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it does.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Because you have to pay them and you may not be getting full productivity immediately; fair?


MS. McKELLAR:  Fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But I take it that you view that as a prudent thing to do in order to, if not guarantee, at least improve the chances of having a supply of skilled labour?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And in doing ‑‑ I take it, though, one ‑‑ along the lines of the apprenticeship program, Hydro One is involved in something called the Electricity Sector Council?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  In fact, my boss, Tom Goldie, is the chair of that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I was going to say that.  Mr. Goldie is the VP of HR?


MS. McKELLAR:  No, senior vice president of corporate services.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Corporate services.  And he is -- I probably demoted him there, and I apologize to him.  He is the chair of the Electricity Sector Council.  Perhaps you can just, very briefly, describe for us what the Electricity Sector Council is and what it does.


MS. McKELLAR:  Sure.  The Electricity Sector Council is a non‑partisan, not-for-profit national organization which is -- consists of employers, bargaining agents and educational institutions, with a mandate to try to increase the labour supply of skilled resources in the electricity sector.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it that there are -- you may or may not know this, but there are sector councils within other industry groups?


MS. McKELLAR:  Oh, yes.  Construction was probably one of the first.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the reason that these organizations exist is because there is a recognition about the skills shortfall looming in the future; correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  The federal government, amongst others, have encouraged the development of these sector councils, in effect, to promote careers in the trades; correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  So as I understand it, you do outreach and education programs and all sorts of things in order to encourage young people to get into the trades?


MS. McKELLAR:  We're involved in Trade Up For Success, which is a program targeted at students in Grade 9 and 10 and their parents, to encourage them to look at skilled trades, what courses they need to take in order to get into those professions.


We offer scholarships and bursaries at a variety of universities to encourage people to get into power system electrical engineering.  We do outreach programs.  We have hired, through Career Bridge, foreign engineers in training.


So, yes, we do a variety of things.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it this is considered to be a long-term solution, because many of the people that you are targeting are not likely to be employees of anybody for five or more years yet to come?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it that this isn't just a Hydro One issue, that other electrical utilities across Canada and North America are doing more or less the same thing in order to get bodies to fill these jobs in the future?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  It is a national issue.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it that, I mean, among other things, we hear -- or at least in the media you hear about labour shortages, for example, out in Alberta dealing with oil sands and that kind of thing.  I mean, is that an illustrative example of the kinds of issues that you are dealing with in terms of your long‑term recruitment?  


Is that the same sort of issue in terms of their difficulty in getting staff and bidding up salaries and whatnot?  Maybe I'm pushing it too far.


MS. McKELLAR:  I wouldn't say I would go as far as to say it is exactly the same as what Alberta is going through, but I would concede that, yes, there is a tighter labour market and, yes, we are trying to increase supply.


MR. STEPHENSON:  As a result of all of that, I mean, the Board has indicated its concern with respect to compensation levels.


And the proposition I would put to you - and agree with me or not - is that because of the demographic situation, the Board should not expect there to be, at least in terms of per employee cash compensation, any material rollbacks, notwithstanding your best efforts?  


I mean, that is not a likely probability in the near term.  They shouldn't be surprised if you come back here two years from now or four years from now and cash compensation is higher, not lower?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's part of the details of the bargaining strategy that I don't think is appropriate to discuss.  We remain committed to reducing employee-related costs through a variety of means, but that is as much as I think is appropriate to say about that in this forum.


MR. STEPHENSON:  What I'm getting at, really, is that I'm just going to suggest to you that that may not be the most relevant metric by which the Board may want to measure your effectiveness, in terms of success or failure, in terms of managing your HR situation, broadly speaking.


And I don't know what the right metric is, whether it is employee costs per kilowatt‑hour of throughput, or employee costs per kilometre of transmission line or something else, but employee ‑‑ per employee cash comp may not be the most relevant metric to judge your success or failure.  Do you agree with that?


MS. McKELLAR:  There may be other metrics which are better than that.  We do look at metrics already, in terms of productivity gains, and they're in the evidence with respect to billable hours and things like that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  In fact, I mean, when you talk about, for example, with my client, improving employee flexibility and deployment and whatnot, I mean, often times that has nothing to do with cash comp, but it has real value to you?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's right.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me talk to you for a second about overtime, a different subject entirely.


My friend, Ms. Campbell, said to you, Well, there's not really an overtime policy; it is a collective agreement issue.  And I can't remember if you agreed with her or not.  I think you did.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I did.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But there is at least two parts of the overtime issue, however.  Obviously the collective agreements prescribe that if you work overtime you are paid X and that's one part; right?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But there is another issue which is within, entirely within the control of management, and that is whether overtime is worked at all.  Correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So for example, obviously, the employer can choose to hire more regular staff and work less overtime.  That's a choice.  Correct? 


MS. McKELLAR:  That's a choice. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you've made a choice, as management, about what the right balance is there.  Right?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, we have. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Certain amount of overtime, certain amount of employees.  


And for example, if you wanted to reduce your per- employee cash compensation, if that was your only objective, what you would do would be hire more employees and work less overtime; right?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  But I take it you've reached the view that that's not the best business strategy, in terms of managing your business.  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I just want to talk to you for a second about the Society collective agreement.  I don't want to tread on my friend's issues here, but I did want to talk to you very briefly about that. 


That was a collective agreement that was imposed through binding arbitration; correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And the -- and that was, occurred by, as a result of some government intervention to end the strike; correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And the arbitrator there, in that particular case, was Mr. Kevin Whitaker who is the chair of the Ontario Labour Relations Board; correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And he, fair to say, more than anybody else than at least most of the people in this room, I take it he is a highly regarded individual in the world of labour relations; fair?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, he is.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that was the -- the proceeding in front of him was some kind of an adversarial proceeding, in the sense that Hydro One took a position and the Society took a position, at the end he made a ruling; fair?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Presumably Hydro One's position, of what the package should look like, was something less than what was actually ultimately imposed.  Fair enough?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Similarly, the Society didn't get everything they wanted; correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And a part of that process, I take it, was to put to the arbitrator comparables in the industry about what people like this make and what they're worth; correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  And Hydro One put forward its comparables and the Society put forward its comparables; correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  So you've had, you know whether you liked the outcome or not - and I suspect nobody liked it if it was a good outcome - somebody with some credibility in this industry actually took a look at the comparables and decided that whatever he awarded was the right number.  Correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I can't speak for how Mr. Whitaker came up with those numbers. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  But that's the process as you understood it.  He looked at the comparables, and the force of your arguments and whatever, and he said:  Three, three and three or three, two and three or whatever the numbers were in terms of percentage increase was the right number.  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's what he said, that was the correct number.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  So you've already had, at least vis-a-vis the Society's salary, some independent objective review of what those salaries should be, whether you like it or not.  Fair?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Fair.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  And just lastly on the -- the PWU collective agreement we know runs till March 31, 2008.  Correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  And up until that time, it's unlawful for to you change any of the rates; correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  You are -- this is a legal requirement as binding as any other legal requirement that Hydro One is under, in terms of things it can do, and things it must do and things it cannot do. Correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's right.  It is binding. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, panel. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Just a moment.  


Would someone else like to volunteer?  We will use up a little bit time this afternoon, Mr. Rodger. 


MR. RODGER:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I find myself in the same position as Mr. Stephenson.  I won't be able attend until tomorrow afternoon, so I’d be grateful to go now.  I am just down to one area, given the questions that have gone before me, so I should be pretty quick. 


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:


MR. RODGER:  Panel if you could please turn up exhibit J, tab 1, schedule 40, page 2 of 3.  


This was the table that provided Hydro One Networks' head counts over the period 2003 to 2008 which Ms. Campbell took you through earlier today.  Exhibit J, tab 1, schedule 40, page 2.  Do you have that?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MR. RODGER:  I wanted to first clarify something. 


If you go to the end of year 2005 head count for the management compensation plan, full-time employees, you see a number of 312 of these employees --  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes. 


MR. RODGER: -- increasing to 469 at the end of 2006; is that correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  That would be an increase in MCPs of 157 people?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  


MR. RODGER:  And then if we go down to the Society increase over that same period, you see the numbers declining from 851 Society representatives to 687 representatives at the end of 2006; correct?  


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 


MR. RODGER:  That would be a decrease of 164 Society personnel.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. RODGER:  Now, perhaps it is the wrong assumption, but can you tell me the extent to which the difference at the end of 2006 is in Society personnel moving up to the MCP category.  Are most of those people moving up, is that the reason for -- is it kind of almost like a set off, the Society representatives are moving up to fill in those MCP positions that are needed?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I don't have the exact numbers, but it's fair to say that many of the reductions in IESOs staff are people that assumed -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. McKellar, your microphone appears to be off.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Excuse me. 


Yes, many of the reduction in the Society staff are a result of moving into managerial jobs in Hydro One.  


MR. RODGER:  As a ballpark, is it the vast majority that are moving?  


MS. McKELLAR:  I would say yes, it is, a vast majority.  


MR. RODGER:  Now, one simple one calculation here -- and I am trying to understand the change in management to regular employee ratio, and I want to explore this with you in the context of your comments about your experience from the strike.  


If you go to the 2006 head count and you see the total number for full-time people of 4018 employees, do you see that?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MR. RODGER:  Now, what I have done, the simple calculation I have done is I've taken 4,018 and I have subtracted the full time MCP employees of 469 and that gives me a total of 3,549 and I have divided that by the full-time MCP number, 469.  And that gives me 7.56.  


So in other words, under this scenario you have one manager for every 7.56 regular employees.  That's the ratio I've come up with.  


Subject to check, will you accept that? 


MS. McKELLAR:  Subject to check. 


MR. RODGER:  Now if I go back to 2003, I've done a similar calculation.  You will see in that case that the total employees were 3696.  Do you see it in the first table?  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes I do. 


MR. RODGER:  In this case I have subtracted 277 employees, the full time MCPs for that year.  


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  


MR. RODGER:  And that gives me 3,419.  And again I have divided it by 277, the full time MCP for that year.  And that gives me a ratio of 12.34.  


So we've gone from one management person for every 12.3 employees, down to one management person for every 7.5 employees at the end of 2006.  


First of all, is that -- was that a targeted approach that you've wanted to implement from 2003, is to change that ratio?  


MS. McKELLAR:  As I said earlier when I was answering a question from Ms. Campbell, was with respect to this learning during the strike we realized we didn't have the right ratio of management to staff to represented staff, and as a result we started to add in more management staff. 


We've also added to the work program dramatically over the last year, and management staff are also managing not only the regular and the staff at Hydro One, but also these enormous contracts that are out there.  That also involves a lot of management time.  


So as the work program has increased, the responsibilities and the work of the managers have also increased, so we have had to add more in, in order to complete the work programs.


MR. RODGER:  Do we take from that, Ms. McKellar, that part of that experience is that in the unfortunate event, if there was to be another strike in the future, it would be much better placed with your current ratio to operate the organization without interruptions?  Is that one of the conclusions we draw from this reduction in the ratio between management to employees?


MS. McKELLAR:  If you're asking me if that was one of the objectives of adding in more management staff, I honestly don't ‑‑ that's not my understanding.


My understanding was that there wasn't the number of management staff to run the current organization, at an optimum level, effectively.  In all fairness, I would be speculating and it wouldn't be appropriate.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  That's my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  We could likely finish this panel this afternoon, if we soldiered on.  Ms. Girvan, Mr. Buonaguro, are you prepared to go and does your time estimate still stand?


MS. GIRVAN:  My difficulty is I can try, but I am trying to knock some things off that Ms. Campbell sort of covered off for me, but I will do my best.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro?


MS. GIRVAN:  I wasn't sure about the Society.  I thought they had half an hour of questions, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Long.  What is your estimate now, Mr. Long?


MR. LONG:  We're going to be a little longer than we anticipated, given the new information, so it wouldn't be a good time for us.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I think since we have to go tomorrow morning, then, what we will do is break now.  It's been a long day for the panel, and we will do that and we will proceed tomorrow.  So tomorrow we have Mr. Long, Mr. Buonaguro and Ms. Girvan, is that correct, and the Board panel?  Energy Probe?


MR. MACINTOSH:  Energy Probe may have some questions, but we won't be more than 10 or 15 minutes at the most.


MS. NOWINA:  I missed you this morning, Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. MACINTOSH:  I was next door.


MS. NOWINA:  Oh.  I won't ask you how it went.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will adjourn for today, then, and resume tomorrow morning at 9:30.


‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:09 p.m.
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